
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Thursday, 3 March 2016 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Governance and Audit:

Councillors: G R Aley (Chairman), C J T H Brewis, T A Carter, P C Foyster, A Harrison 
(Vice-Chairman), C N Johnson and M J Pullen

Revised quorum 3.

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile telephones 

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:  24 February 2016



AGENDA
PLEASE NOTE TIMINGS
ARE APPROXIMATE

TIME
6.30pm 1. Apologies for absence. 

6.31pm 2. Declaration of Interests - Where a Councillor has a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must 
declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room 
without participating in any discussion or making a 
statement on the item, except where a Councillor is 
permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation. 

6.32pm 3. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the 
following meetings:

a)   Governance and Audit Committee  - 3 December 2015 
(copy enclosed)

(Pages 1 - 
10)

b)   Special meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee  
- 21 January 2016 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 11 
- 16)

6.35pm 4. External Audit Plan 2015/16 - South Holland District 
Council (report of KPMG enclosed)

(Pages 17 
- 32)

6.45pm 5. Certification of grants and returns 2014/15 - Annual 
Report (report of KPMG enclosed)

(Pages 33 
- 40)

6.55pm 6. Internal Audit Update Report - To update the Committee 
on progress with the Audit Plan – December 2015 to 
mid-February 2016 (report of the Audit and Risk 
Manager (Audit Lincolnshire) and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation enclosed)

(Pages 41 
- 60)

7.10pm 7. Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2016/17 - This  
report provides an overview of the stages followed prior 
to the formulation of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 
2016/17 to 2018/19 and the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
for 2016/17. The Annual Internal Audit Plan will then 
serve as the work programme for the Council’s Internal 
Audit Services Contractor; TIAA Ltd. It will also provide 
the basis for the Annual Audit Opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of South Holland District 
Council’s framework of governance, risk management 
and control (report of the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager enclosed)

(Pages 61 
- 86)

7.20pm 8. Audit Mandatory Inquiries - To confirm the response to 
the external audit mandatory inquiries (report of the 
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 
enclosed).

(Pages 87 
- 92)



7.30pm 9. Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy - To consider the 
anti-fraud policy in relation to the Council Tax Support 
scheme (report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 93 
- 104)

7.40pm 10. Quarterly Risk Report - To inform the Committee on the 
current status of the Councils’ strategic risks (report of 
the Executive Director Strategy and Governance 
enclosed).

(Pages 
105 - 112)

7.50pm 11. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme - To 
set out the Work Programme of the Governance and 
Audit Committee (report of the Shared Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed).

(Pages 
113 - 120)

8.00pm 12. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. 
- 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by 
reason of special circumstances, which 
shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 19 -

Minutes of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE held in 
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 3 December 
2015 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley (Chairman)
A Harrison (Vice-Chairman)

C J T H Brewis
T A Carter

P C Foyster
M J Pullen

 

There were no apologies received.

In Attendance: John Cornett (Director, KPMG), Helen Brookes (Manager, KPMG), 
Lucy Pledge (Audit and Risk Manager, Audit Lincolnshire), Julie Castledene 
(Principal Auditor, Audit Lincolnshire), the Executive Director Commercialisation, the 
Interim Chief Accountant, the Housing Landlord Manager, the Finance Business 
Partner (CPBS), the Business Intelligence Officer, the Democratic Services Officer 
and Councillor P Coupland.

Action By
19. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

20. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Governance and Audit 
Committee meeting held on 24 September 2015 were signed by 
the Chairman as a correct record. 

21. HRA MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2016/17 - 2019/20 

The Committee was advised that this year, a zero-based review 
of Housing would be undertaken, and that the setting of the final 
budget and rents would be aligned.  In order to approve the HRA 
Business Plan, and the setting of rents, an additional special 
meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee would be 
required, and that this would be arranged to be held in January 
2016, prior to consideration of these issues by the Cabinet in 
February 2016.  Committee members would be advised once a 
date for this meeting had been confirmed.

(The Housing Landlord Manager and the Finance Business 
Partner left the meeting at 18.38 p.m. following discussion of the 
above item). 

CM 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.a)



- 20 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

22. SHDC ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2014/15 

Consideration was given to the report from KPMG, which 
provided details of the Annual Audit Letter 2014/15.  

The report summarised the key findings from the 2014/15 audit of 
South Holland District Council.  Although the letter was addressed 
to the members of the Authority, it was also intended to 
communicate these issues to key external stakeholders, including 
members of the public.

The report covered the audit of the Authority’s 2014/15 financial 
statements and the 2014/15 value for money conclusion.  All the 
issues within the letter had previously been reported.  The 
detailed findings were contained within the reports listed in 
Appendix 1.

The report confirmed that an unqualified conclusion had been 
issued on the Authority’s arrangements to secure value for money 
for 2014/15.

AGREED:

That the report be noted. 

23. EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND TECHNICAL 
          UPDATE

Consideration was given to the report from KPMG, which 
provided details of the external audit progress and technical 
update, as at November 2015.

The report provided the Governance and Audit Committee with an 
overview on progress in delivering KPMG’s responsibilities as the 
external auditors.  The report also highlighted the main technical 
issues which were currently having an impact in local 
government.  The articles that were believed to have an impact at 
the Authority had been flagged and a perspective had been 
provided on each issue.

The following areas were highlighted:

 Information was detailed within the report of the Audit 
Committee Institute, Local Government Seminar Series for 
Autumn 2015.  The Committee was advised that the next 
event was currently being arranged, that this would probably 
take place at the end of March 2016, and that invitations would 
be sent in early January 2016.  Officers were also welcome to 

Page 2



- 21 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

attend.
 2017/18 would be the last year for the Authority’s current 

external audit contract.  From 2018/19, local government 
bodies would need to appoint their own auditors.  

 The Executive Director Commercialisation advised that as the 
Authority had been aware of last year’s penalty relating to the 
housing benefit subsidy error, provision had been made for the 
penalty, the audit had been undertaken, adjustments made 
and the accounts signed off.  The impact to the Authority had 
been £25,000 less than anticipated.  Directors had taken 
considerable steps to ensure that this situation did not happen 
again.  The IRRV had undertaken an independent review from 
which an action plan had arisen.  The action plan was well 
supported – there was additional management resource for 
housing benefit and there was strategic policy support from 
another housing benefit shared service. Although these 
initiatives were yet to be fully implemented, the situation was 
in hand.

 With regard to the new requirement that transport 
infrastructure assets owned by local authorities to be included 
in the accounts from 2016/17, the Committee was advised that 
CIPFA had issued a tool to assist local authorities in 
identifying relevant assets.  This issue was important as it 
would have a material impact on the Authority.                                                                                                                  

AGREED:

That the report be noted.  

24. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Audit & Risk Manager 
(Audit Lincolnshire), and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
which provided an update on progress with the Audit Plan between 
September 2015 and November 2015.

The purpose of the report was to:

 Advise of progress being made with the 2015/16 Audit Plan
 Provide details of the audit work during the period
 Provide details of the current position with agreed management 

actions in respect of previously issued reports
 Update the committee on any changes to the 2015/16 Audit Plan 

and any other matters that may be relevant to the Governance 
and Audit Committee role.

Detailed information in relation to assurance definitions; audits 
with limited assurance; the internal audit plan and schedule; and the 

Page 3



- 22 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

CIPFA Better Governance Forum Audit Committee Update 18 were 
contained within the appendices which were attached to the report.

The Committee noted that at section1.5 of the report, the 
Procurement and Project Management follow up was detailed as 
an item to be deleted from the Plan.  Councillors were advised 
that the auditors would be looking at one area, the Council’s 
relationship with Procurement Lincolnshire, and whether the 
contract was adequate and provided the necessary procurement 
support.

With regard to progress on outstanding audit recommendations, it 
was highlighted that management responses to these were not 
satisfactory.  The Executive Director Commercialisation was to 
take the lead with Directors in addressing the reasons for agreed 
management actions remaining outstanding, and the Committee 
would receive a further update on outstanding audit 
recommendations at the meeting in March 2016.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That an update on outstanding audit recommendations be 
provided to the Committee in March 2016. 

JK CM 

25. MID TERM TREASURY REPORT 2015/16 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation which provided an update of the treasury 
management position of the Council as at 30 September 2015.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2011 was 
adopted by South Holland District Council on 8 March 2012.  The 
primary requirements of the Code were as follows:

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement which set out the policies and objectives of the 
Council’s treasury management activities;

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices 
which set out the manner in which the Council will seek to 
achieve those policies and objectives;

 Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy 
and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy – for the year ahead, 
a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual Report (stewardship 

Page 4



- 23 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

report) covering activities during the previous year.
 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing 

and monitoring treasury management policies and practices 
and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions.

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury 
management strategy and policies to a specific named body.  
For South Holland District Council, the delegated body was 
the Governance and Audit Committee.

In summary, the mid year report had been prepared in 
compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, and covered the following:

 An economic update for the 2015/16 financial year to 30 
September 2015;

 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Annual Investment Strategy;

 The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators);
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2015/16;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2015/16;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2015/16;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 

2015/16

There were no key changes to the Treasury or Capital Strategy.

AGREED:

That the report be noted. 

26. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND 
ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2016/17 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation which requested that the Committee scrutinise 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy and Annual Investment Strategy 
2016/17, and make any comments and suggestions , for 
consideration by the Cabinet when it would consider the report at 
its meeting on 16 February 2016.

Treasury Management was defined as: ‘The management of the 
local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks’.

Page 5



- 24 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2011, 
adopted by the Council on 8 March 2012, required the Council to 
set out its Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy and Annual Investment Strategy for the 
forthcoming year.  These outlined the Council’s strategy for 
borrowing and its policies for managing its investments and for 
giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments.  
The strategy statements for 2016/17 were attached to the report 
at Appendix A.  The strategy statements covered:

 Reporting requirements
 Capital prudential indicators 2015/16 to 2018/19
 The borrowing requirement
 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy
 The use of the Council’s resources and the investment 

position
 Prudential and Treasury Indicators
 Treasury limits in force which would limit the treasury risk and 

activities of the Council
 Prospects for interest rates
 The borrowing strategy
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need
 Debt rescheduling 
 The investment policy 
 Creditworthiness policy
 Country limits 
 Investment strategy 

The strategy document presented to the Governance and Audit 
Committee for scrutiny was currently at draft stage as the future 
Capital Programme had yet to be finalised and approved by 
Council.  Once this was known, the tables within the strategy 
document shown at Appendix A would be updated and submitted 
to Council for approval before the commencement of the 2016/17 
financial year.

The Council had recently created a Housing Company (Welland 
Homes) which could  involve the Council taking on additional 
borrowing and providing a loan to the Housing Company.  Once 
further information became available, it could result in 
amendments to the draft strategy attached to the covering report.

The Committee was advised that a number of tables within the 
report would change as indicators changed and that a revised 
version would be provided to the special meeting to be held in 

Page 6



- 25 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

January 2016, detailed earlier in these minutes. 

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That a revised version of the report would be provided to the 
Committee at its special meeting to be held in January 2016. CM 

27. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT SELF-ASSESSMENT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Interim Chief 
Accountant.  Members noted that the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) advocated that it was good 
practice for Audit Committees to undertake regular assessments.  
This enabling members to gain an appreciation of what afforded 
best practice, to confirm the level of compliance being achieved, 
and to identify any potential areas for enhancements to be made 
to arrangements.  

CIPFA’s Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist, which was 
attached as an appendix within the report, focussed on 6 
fundamental areas, and 66 individual aspects of operations.  The 
key areas were as follows:

 Establishment, Operation and Duties;
 Internal Control;
 Financial Reporting and Regulatory Matters;
 Internal Audit;
 External Audit; and
 Administration.

At a workshop session held on 24 November 2015, a Finance and 
Audit desktop review was carried out and the checklist to assess 
the Governance and Audit performance against the CIPFA 
standard (attached at Appendix 1 to the report) was completed.  
The exercise identified actions that would improve the 
effectiveness of the Committee.  These were highlighted in bold 
within the appendix.  The actions included the continued 
production of an annual report of the work of the Governance and 
Audit Committee (the Committee’s first report for a number of 
years was considered at Council on 9 September 2015, following 
a similar self-assessment last year).

AGREED:

a) That the report and the completed checklist at Appendix 1 and 
the actions to be completed be noted;

Page 7



- 26 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

b) That the checklist be reviewed on a rolling quarterly basis by 
the Committee;

c) That Members Development Programme requirements be a 
standard agenda item for 2016/17; and

d) That informal training, to supplement formal training, take 
place in the form of short time slots at each meeting. 

JK, KT CM 

CM, AT 

CM, KT 

28. QUARTERLY RISK REPORT 

Consideration was given to the Executive Director Strategy and 
Governance which updated the Committee on the current status 
of the Council’s strategic risks.

The last risk report to the Governance and Audit Committee was 
in September 2015, and covered the position of strategic risks up 
to the end of Quarter 1 2015-16.  This followed a period where 
routine performance and risk reporting had been temporarily 
suspended to allow for the review of performance and risk 
frameworks and the implementation of a new corporate 
performance and risk monitoring system, known as Covalent.

The report being considered was the second risk report to be 
generated using the new system, and contained status updates 
on strategic risks for Quarter 2, 2015/16.  Future quarterly reports 
would also contain details of high scoring operational risks, which 
were still in the process of being implemented on the new 
Covalent system.  

Strategic risks had been reviewed and updated with responsible 
members of the Executive Management Team (EMT).  The 
strategic risk register included seven strategic risks (detailed at 
Appendix A to the report).  These covered the over-arching risks 
that could affect the strategic direction of the Council, rather than 
risks linked to business continuity or those that affected discreet 
service areas.  Currently, there were no strategic risks that were 
rated as high risks, and there were appropriate mitigations in 
place to ensure that these risks were appropriately managed.

Strategic risks were captured on the Corporate Dashboard, and 
reviewed by EMT quarterly.  In addition, risks were reviewed 
monthly at the officer-led Performance, Risk and Audit Board, 
chaired by the Executive Director Strategy and Governance.

Strategic Risks – These typically affected the whole of the 
organisation and not just one or more parts of it.  Strategic risks 

Page 8



- 27 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

could potentially involve very high stakes and often affected the 
ability of the organisation to survive, e.g. impact on the ability of 
the Council to achieve its corporate plan objectives and purpose.  
Strategic risks were managed at Board (EMT) level.

The Risk Framework was currently under review, alongside the 
implementation of the new ICT system.  As part of this review, the 
risk matrix had been changed from a 3 x 3 to a 5 x 5 matrix, 
based on best practice in comparable organisations.  This 
provided a more comprehensive assessment and understanding 
of risk likelihood and impact.  The matrix resulted in a numerical 
score which combined the impact of the risk occurring with the 
likelihood of it happening.  Risks fell into High, Medium or Low 
categories, depending on their rating. 

The Committee was advised that the wording in some sections of 
the appendix had not been finalised and that it had been 
completed prior to the Chancellor’s recent autumn statement.  A 
revised version of the appendix would be circulated to members 
of the Committee.

The Committee considered the report and agreed that the report 
did seem easier to read than previous versions.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That a revised version of the appendix be circulated to 
Committee members. 

CD, CM 

29. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which presented the Work Programme of the 
Governance and Audit Committee, as set out in Appendix A within 
the report.

AGREED:

That the report be noted. 

30. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were none.

Page 9



- 28 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 3 December 
2015

(The Principal Auditor and the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management from Audit Lincolnshire left the meeting following 
discussion of the above item). 

31. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC 

AGREED:

To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

32. INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE PROVISION 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation which detailed the approach proposed for 
Internal Audit Services at South Holland District Council from 1 
April 2016.  A full discussion around the issues was held.

DECISION:

That the recommendations, as detailed within the report be 
approved.  

(The meeting ended at 8.20 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 10



- 29 -

Minutes of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE held in  
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 21 January 
2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley (Chairman)
A Harrison (Vice-Chairman)

C J T H Brewis
T A Carter

P C Foyster  M J Pullen

In Attendance:   The Interim Chief Accountant, the Housing Landlord Manager, the 
Senior Business Partner (CPBS) and the Democratic Services Officer.

Action By
33. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

34. FINANCIAL FORECAST OUTTURN Q2 2015/16 (ABRIDGED 
          HRA ONLY)

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which provided information on 
the draft year end financial position of the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA), as at 30 September 2016.  This information was 
appended to the report at Appendix 1.

The report contained information on the projected full year 
financial performance of the HRA, which was included in the 
Financial Forecast Outturn Quarter Two 2015-16, presented to 
Cabinet on 8 December 2015.

The Interim Chief Accountant advised that changes to the core 
budget going forward were to be made during the financial year.  
The Governance and Audit Committee needed to understand this 
situation in respect of the HRA, and the report provided the 
background to the issues.

 Table 1 within the appendix showed major variances within the 
HRA due to the following: 1) The annual budget was compiled 
using the 30 year business plan as a reference.  However 
some planning assumptions, whilst valid over a 30 year 
period, were not valid on an annual basis.  Several areas of 
the budget were set this way and the forecast reset the 
position back to normal operating parameters. 2) Property 
maintenance costs in the budget included costs of services 
provided to clients other than the HRA.  The use of recharges 
in the Budget had lead to confusion and this position had now 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3.b)



- 30 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 21 January 
2016

been regulated. 
 Table 2 within the appendix showed the statutory accounts 

presentation, and clarified the position in respect of individual 
costs and incomes.  

 Information regarding the HRA Service Review was detailed 
within the appendix, and the Interim Chief Accountant 
explained a number of these.

 With regard to the HRA Capital Programme, the Committee 
was advised that the Decent Homes replacement activities 
were based on information from the HRA Codeman asset 
management system,  The system included representative 
useful asset life assumptions and this in turn generated a 
forecast for replacement.  The system had become unstable 
due to lack of support and a new system was currently being 
installed.  The current budget was based on this forecast data 
but the actual management system included a further step 
which was to determine condition of the component.  In order 
to ensure that only assets that required replacement due to 
failure were actioned in the programme, a change of useful life 
criteria was proposed.  This would extend the replacement 
time for existing records which would allow individual 
component condition to be determined before replacement 
action was considered.  The change would also reflect actual 
experience of asset life since the inception of self-financing to 
the HRA.  A projection at Table 13 was included within the 
appendix.  This had been drawn together after examining all 
existing Codeman forecast records in respect of condition to 
ensure that only assets that required replacement based on 
this criteria were in the programme.

The Committee reviewed and considered the information provided 
within the report and by officers.

AGREED:

That the report of the Executive Director Commercialisation be 
noted. 

KT 

35. HRA - DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL    
          STRATEGY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which provided information on 
the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the medium term 
financial plan and the capital strategy.

The appendices to the report outlined the 2016-17 revenue and 
capital estimates for the HRA, the outline position to 2019-20, the 

Page 12



- 31 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 21 January 
2016

medium term financial plan and the capital strategy.  The medium 
term financial plan set out the framework within which the budget 
was to be set to ensure that it enabled the Council to achieve its 
own corporate objectives.  The capital strategy set out the 
framework for the capital budget setting.

During recent years, the Council, alongside many public sector 
service providers had experienced financial pressures in various 
combinations; public sector funding cuts, all time low returns on 
cash deposits and a national economic downturn affecting jobs, 
housing and business growth.  During this same period the basis 
on which the public sector was funded had undergone 
unprecedented reform, radical changes that affected the Council’s 
funding financial position both directly and indirectly included 
National Welfare Reform, Localisation of Council Tax Relief, 
Business Rates Retention, New Homes Bonus and reduction and 
in some cases removal of a range of grant funding sources. Each 
change brought elements of uncertainty in terms of impact.

Since the inception of self-financing, central government changes 
had had a major impact on the 30 year Business Plan of the HRA. 
The increase in discounts available to tenants had lead to 
increased sales of units, national rent policy has changed twice in 
the last two years, pay to stay regulations were coming through 
and charges for higher value property in respect of forced sale on 
void were also coming through Parliament. 

Despite these challenges, and as a result of the Council’s prudent 
financial management, the HRA had been positioned to secure a 
sustainable financial future across the medium term with no 
dependency on reserves.  This position was enabling the Council 
time to further develop the financial strategy and to identify and 
deliver a clear replacement programme in line with the 1 for 1 
replacement agreement entered into with Central Government.  

This change had already started with the formation of the Housing 
Growth Group and some changes had been delivered early, with 
accelerated savings, in respect of the proposed changes in the 
asset replacement policy

Further changes were being considered including the formation of 
a property services function for the authority which would include 
asset management and had responsibility for the capital 
programme including the proposed affordable housing projects, 
planned maintenance, works on void properties and responsive 
repairs.  

The Interim Chief Accountant advised that the biggest issue 

Page 13



- 32 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 21 January 
2016

currently was the setting of the rent for the forthcoming year.  
Under normal circumstances, a recommendation for the rent 
policy for the forthcoming year would have been made.  The 
Government was currently progressing a bill through Parliament 
to make the National Rent Policy mandatory, but as this had not 
yet received Royal Assent, no determination for the HRA had 
been issued.  The three options currently available to the 
Authority were:

1. To follow the headline changes to policy with regard to rent 
reduction, and decrease all rents by 1%.

2. To do nothing until the bill has gone through and the National 
Rent Policy has been set.

3. To continue with the local rent policy and increase all rents.

The Committee felt that the ‘do nothing’ option was currently the 
best choice and that this should be its recommendation to the 
Council.  

AGREED:

a) That the HRA draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the 
medium term financial plan and the capital strategy be forwarded for 
consideration by the Cabinet;

b) That with regard to the National Rent Policy, it be recommended to 
the Council that it do nothing until the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 
had gone through Parliament and the National Rent Policy had been 
set; and

c) That it be recommended to the Council that the revisions to the 
Asset Management Plan, particularly in respect of useful life 
changes proposed for current and future use,  be adopted.

(The Housing Landlord Manager left the meeting following 
discussion of this item).  

KT 

KT 

KT RS 

36. WEEKLY COLLECTION SUPPORT SCHEME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which provided information on 
the funding provided to support weekly waste collections over a 
five year period.

In January 2009 a survey of residents was conducted and 67.5% 
made it clear they would not be in favour of changing to fortnightly 
waste collections.  On 22 November 2012 the Department for 
Communities and Local Government confirmed that a bid from 
South Holland District Council for Weekly collections support had 

Page 14



- 33 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT - 21 January 
2016

been successful.  £1,768,050 was granted over three years 
commencing in the 2012/13 financial year

 £355,462 for 2012/13
 £585,514 for 2013/14
 £827,074 for 2014/15

The funding was conditional on the satisfactory and timely 
provision of evidence that the scheme has the full support of the 
council.  A further condition was that weekly waste collections 
would continue for a minimum of 5 years and that promotion of 
the scheme to residents would be carried out.  

More detail on the financial information was provided within the 
report.  

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That the following outcomes be reported back to the Cabinet:

i. That the Committee considered that the scheme conditions 
had been fulfilled and that monies had been expended in line 
with these conditions; and

ii. That the Committee considered that the remaining balance 
of funds should be released from Reserves in the 2015/16 
financial year 

KT 

37. SPECIFICS OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

The Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer) provided the 
Committee with a presentation on specifics of the Treasury 
Management Strategy, and the details of this were noted. 

(The meeting ended at 8.34 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



External Audit Plan 
2015/2016

South Holland District Council 

February 2016

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4.



1© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Headlines

Financial Statement Audit Value for Money Arrangements work£

There are no significant changes to the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in 2015/16, which provides stability in terms of the accounting standards the Authority 
need to comply with.

Materiality
Materiality for planning purposes has been based on this year’s budget and is set at 
£600k.

We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those 
which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance and this has been set 
at £30k.

Significant risks
Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the 
likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

■ Management override of controls;

■ Fraudulent revenue recognition; and

■ Provision for business rate appeals.

Other areas of audit focus
Other areas of audit focus are those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a 
material error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding. We have 
not identified any such risks at this stage but we will review how amendments to 
accounting standards affect the Authority and the change in the Authority’s 
approach to the minimum revenue provision.

Logistics

£

The National Audit Office has issued new guidance for the VFM audit which applies 
from the 2015/16 audit year. The approach is broadly similar in concept to the previous 
VFM audit regime, but there are some notable changes:

■ There is a new overall criterion on which the auditor’s VFM conclusion is based; and

■ This overall criterion is supported by three new sub-criteria.

Our risk assessment is ongoing and we will report VFM significant risks during our 
audit. 

See pages 6 to 9 for more details.

Our team is:

■ John Cornett – Director

■ Helen Brookes – Manager

■ Jon Machej – Assistant Manager 

More details are on page 12.

Our work will be completed in four phases from December to September and our key 
deliverables are this Audit Plan and a Report to those charged with governance as 
outlined on page 11.

Our fee for the audit is £44,537 (£59,382 2014/2015) see page 10.

P
age 18



2© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial Statements Audit

Our financial statements audit work follows a four stage audit process which is identified 
below. Appendix 1 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on the Financial Statements Audit Planning stage of the Financial 
Statements Audit.

Value for Money Arrangements Work

Our Value for Money (VFM) Arrangements Work follows a five stage process which is 
identified below. Page 6 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on explaining the VFM approach for 2015/16.

Introduction

Background and Statutory responsibilities

This document supplements our Audit Fee Letter 2015/16 presented to you in April 2015, 
which also sets out details of our appointment by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
(PSAA).

Our statutory responsibilities and powers are set out in the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice. 

Our audit has two key objectives, requiring us to audit/review and report on your:

■ Financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement): Providing an 
opinion on your accounts; and

■ Use of resources: Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources (the value for money 
conclusion).

The audit planning process and risk assessment is an on-going process and the 
assessment and fees in this plan will be kept under review and updated if necessary. 

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to thank officers and Members for their continuing 
help and co-operation throughout our audit work.

Substantive 
Procedures CompletionControl

Evaluation

Financial 
Statements Audit 

Planning

Risk 
Assessment

VFM 
audit work

Identification 
of significant 

VFM risks
Conclude Reporting

P
age 19



3© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial statements audit planning

Financial Statements Audit Planning

Our planning work takes place during January 2016. This involves the following key 
aspects:

■ Risk assessment;

■ Determining our materiality level; and 

■ Issuing this audit plan to communicate our audit strategy.

Risk assessment

Professional standards require us to consider two standard risks for all organisations. We 
are not elaborating on these standard risks in this plan but consider them as a matter of 
course in our audit and will include any findings arising from our work in our 
ISA 260 Report.

■ Management override of controls – Management is typically in a powerful position to 
perpetrate fraud owing to its ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare 
fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively. Our audit methodology incorporates the risk of management 
override as a default significant risk. In line with our methodology, we carry out 
appropriate controls testing and substantive procedures, including over journal 
entries, accounting estimates and significant transactions that are outside the normal 
course of business, or are otherwise unusual.

■ Fraudulent revenue recognition – We do not consider this to be a significant risk for 
local authorities as there are limited incentives and opportunities to manipulate the 
way income is recognised. We therefore rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific 
work into our audit plan in this area over and above our standard fraud procedures.

The diagram opposite identifies significant risks, which we expand on overleaf. The 
diagram also identifies a range of other areas considered by our audit approach.

£

Management 
override of 

controls

Revenue 
recognition

Remuneration 
disclosures

Accounting 
for leases

Key financial 
systems

Impairment of 
PPE

Bad debt 
provision

Financial 
Instruments 
disclosures

Pension 
liability 

assumptions 

Provision for 
business rate 

appeals

Pension 
assets 

Compliance to 
the Code’s 
disclosure 

requirements

Shared 
services

Controls 
over 

transactions

Keys:  Significant risk  Other area of audit focus  Example other areas considered by our approach

MRP 
adjustment

Changes to 
accounting 
standardsP

age 20



4© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Significant Audit Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood 
of a material financial statement error.

Other areas of audit focus

Other areas of audit focus are those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material 
error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding. Our audit will consider 
changes to accounting standards such as IFRS 13 which impacts on surplus assets 
and IFRIC 21 which relates to recognition of liabilities from levies but there is not 
expected to be any significant impact on the Authority as a result of these changes. The 
Authority is also proposing accelerated funding of the minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) to facilitate early repayment of debt and we will review this as part of the 
financial statements work.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
£

Significant Risk 1

■ Business rate appeals – the provision for business rate appeals is a risk area 
since local authorities have little control over the level of appeals and their 
outcome. It is difficult to anticipate the financial impact of successful appeals as 
the potential change in rateable value cannot be predicted. Also, there is 
usually no indication of timescales to settle an appeal, making it hard to 
measure when the financial impact will fall. 

■ We will review the Authority’s approach to estimating its provision for business 
rate appeals against the requirements of IAS 37 — Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets.P

age 21



5© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)

Materiality

We are required to plan our audit to determine with reasonable confidence whether or not 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An omission or misstatement 
is regarded as material if it would reasonably influence the user of financial statements. 
This therefore involves an assessment of the qualitative and quantitative nature of 
omissions and misstatements.

Generally, we would not consider differences in opinion in respect of areas of judgement
to represent ‘misstatements’ unless the application of that judgement results in a financial 
amount falling outside of a range which we consider to be acceptable.

Materiality for planning purposes has been set at £600k which equates to around 1% 
percent of gross expenditure. 

We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision.

£

Reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the 
Governance and Audit Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the 
extent that these are identified by our audit work.

Under ISA 260(UK&I) ‘Communication with those charged with governance’, we are 
obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are 
‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 (UK&I) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as 
matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and 
whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.

In the context of the Authority, we propose that an individual difference could normally be 
considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £30k.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 
audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the 
Governance and Audit Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

2015/16
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000
Materiality for the Authority based on 
budgeted gross expenditure

£600k

Individual errors, 
where identified, 
reported to 
Governance and 
Audit Committee

Procedures 
designed to detect 
individual errors 

£30k

£450k

£,000’s

P
age 22



6© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work

VFM audit risk assessment

Financial statements and 
other audit work

Identification of 
significant VFM risks (if 

any) Conclude on 
arrangements to 

secure VFM

No further work required

Assessment of work by other review 
agencies

Specific local risk based work

V
FM

 conclusion

Continually re-assess potential VFM risks

£

Informed 
decision 
making

Working 
with 

partners 
and third 
parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment 

Overall criterion

In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.

Background to approach to VFM work

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires auditors of local government bodies 
to be satisfied that the authority ‘has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources’. 

This is supported by the Code of Audit Practice, published by the NAO in April 2015, which 
requires auditors to ‘take into account their knowledge of the relevant local sector as a 
whole, and the audited body specifically, to identify any risks that, in the auditor’s 
judgement, have the potential to cause the auditor to reach an inappropriate conclusion on 
the audited body’s arrangements.’

The VFM approach is fundamentally unchanged from that adopted in 2014/2015 and the 
process is shown in the diagram below. However, the previous two specified reporting 
criteria (financial resilience and economy, efficiency and effectiveness) have been 
replaced with a single criteria supported by three sub-criteria. These sub-criteria provide a 
focus to our VFM work at the Authority. The diagram to the right shows the details of
these criteria.P

age 23



7© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

VFM audit risk assessment We consider the relevance and significance of the potential business risks faced by all local authorities, and other risks that apply specifically to the 
Authority. These are the significant operational and financial risks in achieving statutory functions and objectives, which are relevant to auditors’ 
responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice.

In doing so we consider:

■ The Authority’s own assessment of the risks it faces, and its arrangements to manage and address its risks;

■ Information from the Public Sector Auditor Appointments Limited VFM profile tool;

■ Evidence gained from previous audit work, including the response to that work; and

■ The work of other inspectorates and review agencies.

Linkages with financial 
statements and other
audit work

There is a degree of overlap between the work we do as part of the VFM audit and our financial statements audit. For example, our financial 
statements audit includes an assessment and testing of the Authority’s organisational control environment, including the Authority’s financial 
management and governance arrangements, many aspects of which are relevant to our VFM audit responsibilities.

We have always sought to avoid duplication of audit effort by integrating our financial statements and VFM work, and this will continue. We will 
therefore draw upon relevant aspects of our financial statements audit work to inform the VFM audit. 

Identification of
significant risks

The Code identifies a matter as significant ‘if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would be of interest to the 
audited body or the wider public. Significance has both qualitative and quantitative aspects.’

If we identify significant VFM risks, then we will highlight the risk to the Authority and consider the most appropriate audit response in each case, 
including:

■ Considering the results of work by the Authority, inspectorates and other review agencies; and

■ Carrying out local risk-based work to form a view on the adequacy of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.

P
age 24



8© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

Assessment of work by other 
review agencies

and

Delivery of local risk based 
work

Depending on the nature of the significant VFM risk identified, we may be able to draw on the work of other inspectorates, review agencies and other 
relevant bodies to provide us with the necessary evidence to reach our conclusion on the risk.

If such evidence is not available, we will instead need to consider what additional work we will be required to undertake to satisfy ourselves that we 
have reasonable evidence to support the conclusion that we will draw. Such work may include:

■ Meeting with senior managers across the Authority;

■ Review of minutes and internal reports;

■ Examination of financial models for reasonableness, using our own experience and benchmarking data from within and without the sector.

Concluding on VFM 
arrangements

At the conclusion of the VFM audit we will consider the results of the work undertaken and assess the assurance obtained against each of the VFM 
themes regarding the adequacy of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.

If any issues are identified that may be significant to this assessment, and in particular if there are issues that indicate we may need to consider 
qualifying our VFM conclusion, we will discuss these with management as soon as possible. Such issues will also be considered more widely as part 
of KPMG’s quality control processes, to help ensure the consistency of auditors’ decisions.

Reporting On the following page, we report the results of our initial risk assessment which is ongoing. We will report on the results of the VFM audit through our 
ISA 260 Report. This will summarise any specific matters arising, and the basis for our overall conclusion.

The key output from the work will be the VFM conclusion (i.e. our opinion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing VFM), which forms part of our 
audit report. 

P
age 25



9© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Value for money arrangements work - Planning

Significant VFM Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood that proper arrangements are not in place to deliver value for money.

Significant Risk 1

■ The Government’s Autumn Statement and Spending Review indicated its intention to change funding sources over the next few years, with less 
reliance on Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and increasing dependence on business rates income. That, together with likely reductions in the New 
Homes Bonus (NHB) funding from 2017/18 means that local government bodies face a challenging future. The Authority is currently projecting an 
underspend of around £200k and is reporting a better position compared to previous years, having established a number of options to secure a 
balanced budget across the medium term. The Authority has modelled the budget to anticipate the reduced reliance on the RSG and this has been 
incorporated in to the medium term financial plan. Our value for money work will assess the arrangements the Authority has in place to maintain its 
record of meeting efficiency savings to address national funding changes. We will rely on our accounts audit work where relevant, underpinned by 
a review of the Authority’s budget setting process, financial management processes, and discussions with the senior management team.

■ Approach 

In conjunction with our VFM work we will critically assess the controls the Authority has in place to ensure a sound financial standing and review 
how the Authority is planning and managing its savings plans.

P
age 26



10© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Other matters 

Whole of government accounts (WGA)

We are required to review your WGA consolidation and undertake the work specified under 
the approach that is agreed with HM Treasury and the National Audit Office. Deadlines for 
production of the pack and the specified approach for 2015/16 have not yet been 
confirmed.

Elector challenge

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gives electors certain rights. These are:

■ The right to inspect the accounts;

■ The right to ask the auditor questions about the accounts; and

■ The right to object to the accounts. 

As a result of these rights, in particular the right to object to the accounts, we may need to 
undertake additional work to form our decision on the elector's objection. The additional 
work could range from a small piece of work where we interview an officer and review 
evidence to form our decision, to a more detailed piece of work, where we have to 
interview a range of officers, review significant amounts of evidence and seek legal 
representations on the issues raised. 

The costs incurred in responding to specific questions or objections raised by electors is 
not part of the fee. This work will be charged in accordance with the PSAA's fee scales.

Our audit team

As in the previous year, your audit team will be led by John Cornett and Helen Brookes 
remains as audit manager to ensure continuity from previous audits. Appendix 2 provides 
more details on specific roles and contact details of the team.

Reporting and communication 

Reporting is a key part of the audit process, not only in communicating the audit findings 
for the year, but also in ensuring the audit team is accountable to you in addressing the 
issues identified as part of the audit strategy. Throughout the year we will communicate 
with you through meetings with the finance team and the Governance and Audit 
Committee. Our communication outputs are included in Appendix 1.

Independence and Objectivity

Auditors are also required to be independent and objective. Appendix 3 provides more 
details of our confirmation of independence and objectivity.

Audit fee

Our Audit Fee Letter 2015/2016 presented to you in April 2015 first set out our fees for the 
2015/2016 audit. This letter also sets out our assumptions. 

The planned audit fee for 2015/16 is £44,537. This is a reduction in audit fee, compared
to 2014/2015, of £14,845 (25%).

Our audit fee includes our work on the VFM conclusion and our audit of the Authority’s 
financial statements. 

P
age 27



11© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach

Driving more value from the audit through data and 
analytics
Technology is embedded throughout our audit approach 
to deliver a high quality audit opinion. Use of Data and 
Analytics (D&A) to analyse large populations of 
transactions in order to identify key areas for our audit 
focus is just one element. We strive to deliver new 
quality insight into your operations that enhances our 
and your preparedness and improves your collective 
‘business intelligence.’ Data and Analytics allows us to:
■ Obtain greater understanding of your processes, to 

automatically extract control configurations and to 
obtain higher levels of assurance.

■ Focus manual procedures on key areas of risk and 
on transactional exceptions.

■ Identify data patterns and the root cause of issues to 
increase forward-looking insight.

We anticipate using data and analytics in our work 
around key areas such as accounts payable and 
journals. We also expect to provide insights from our 
analysis of these tranches of data in our reporting to add 
further value from our audit.

CompletionPlanning Control evaluation Substantive testing

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n

A
ud

it 
w

or
kf

lo
w

Continuous communication involving regular meetings between the Governance and Audit Committee, Senior 
Management and the audit team

Initial planning 
meetings and risk 

assessment

Audit strategy 
and plan

Annual Audit 
Letter

Interim report 
(if required)

ISA 260 (UK&I) 
Report

Interim audit

Year end audit of 
financial 

statements and 
annual report

Sign 
audit 

opinion

■ Perform risk 
assessment 
procedures 
and identify 
risks

■ Determine 
audit strategy

■ Determine 
planned audit 
approach

■ Understand accounting 
and reporting activities

■ Evaluate design and 
implementation of 
selected controls

■ Test operating 
effectiveness of selected 
controls

■ Assess control risk and 
risk of the accounts 
being misstated

■ Plan substantive procedures

■ Perform substantive 
procedures

■ Consider if audit evidence is 
sufficient and appropriate

■ Perform completion 
procedures

■ Perform overall 
evaluation

■ Form an audit opinion

■ Governance and Audit 
Committee reporting

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

D&A
ENABLED

AUDIT 
METHODOLOGY

P
age 28



12© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 2: Audit team

Your audit team has been drawn from our specialist public sector assurance department. John Cornett remains the engagement lead for South Holland District Council’s 
audit for 2015/16. 

Name John Cornett 

Position Director

‘My role is to lead our team and ensure the delivery 
of a high quality, valued added external audit 
opinion.

I will be the main point of contact for the 
Governance and Audit Committee and Corporate 
Directors.’

John Cornett
Director
0116 256 6064
john.cornett@kpmg.co.uk

Name Helen Brookes

Position Manager

‘I an responsible for the management, review and 
delivery of the whole audit and producing quality 
assurance for any technical accounting areas. I will 
work closely with the Director to ensure we add 
value. 

Helen Brookes
Manager

0115 945 4476

helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk

Name Jon Machej

Position Assistant Manager

‘I will be responsible for the on-site delivery of our 
work and will supervise the work of our audit 
assistants.’

Jon Machej
Assistant Manager 

0115 935 3430 

jon.machej@kpmg.co.uk

P
age 29

mailto:john.cornett@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:jon.machej@kpmg.co.uk


13© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Appendix 3: Independence and objectivity requirements

Independence and objectivity

Professional standards require auditors to communicate to those charged with governance, 
at least annually, all relationships that may bear on the firm’s independence and the 
objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff. The standards also place 
requirements on auditors in relation to integrity, objectivity and independence.

The standards define ‘those charged with governance’ as ‘those persons entrusted with the 
supervision, control and direction of an entity’. In your case this is the Governance and 
Audit Committee.

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent. APB Ethical Standard 
1 Integrity, Objectivity and Independence requires us to communicate to you in writing all 
significant facts and matters, including those related to the provision of non-audit services 
and the safeguards put in place which, in our professional judgement, may reasonably be 
thought to bear on KPMG LLP’s independence and the objectivity of the Engagement Lead 
and the audit team.

Further to this auditors are required by the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice to: 

■ Carry out their work with integrity, independence and objectivity;

■ Be transparent and report publicly as required;

■ Be professional and proportional in conducting work; 

■ Be mindful of the activities of inspectorates to prevent duplication;

■ Take a constructive and positive approach to their work; 

■ Comply with data statutory and other relevant requirements relating to the security, 
transfer, holding, disclosure and disposal of information.

PSAA’s Terms of Appointment includes several references to arrangements designed to 
support and reinforce the requirements relating to independence, which auditors must 
comply with. These are as follows:

■ Auditors and senior members of their staff who are directly involved in the 
management, supervision or delivery of PSAA audit work should not take part in 
political activity.

■ No member or employee of the firm should accept or hold an appointment as a 
member of an audited body whose auditor is, or is proposed to be, from the same firm. 
In addition, no member or employee of the firm should accept or hold such 
appointments at related bodies, such as those linked to the audited body through a 
strategic partnership.

■ Audit staff are expected not to accept appointments as Governors at certain types of 
schools within the local authority.

■ Auditors and their staff should not be employed in any capacity (whether paid or 
unpaid) by an audited body or other organisation providing services to an audited body 
whilst being employed by the firm.

■ Auditors appointed by the PSAA should not accept engagements which involve 
commenting on the performance of other PSAA auditors on PSAA work without first 
consulting PSAA.

■ Auditors are expected to comply with the Terms of Appointment policy for the 
Engagement Lead to be changed on a periodic basis.

■ Audit suppliers are required to obtain the PSAA’s written approval prior to changing any 
Engagement Lead in respect of each audited body.

■ Certain other staff changes or appointments require positive action to be taken by 
Firms as set out in the Terms of Appointment.

Confirmation statement

We confirm that as of February 2016 in our professional judgement, KPMG LLP is 
independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and the 
objectivity of the Engagement Lead and audit team is not impaired.

P
age 30



© 2016 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered 
trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International.

Produced by Create Graphics/Document number: CRT053550A

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We 
take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their individual capacities, or to third parties. We 
draw your attention to the Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies, which is 
available on Public Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place 
proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are 
dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you should contact John Cornett, the 
engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with 
your response please contact the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers, by email to Andrew.Sayers@kpmg.co.uk
After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access 
PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk by telephoning 020 7072 
7445 or by writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, 
Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.

P
age 31

mailto:Andrew.Sayers@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



KPMG Annual Report on 
grants and returns work 

2014/15

South Holland District Council

February 2016

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 5.



1© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Contents

Page

■ Headlines 2

■ Summary of certification work outcomes 3

■ Fees 6

This report is addressed to the Authority and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member of staff acting in their 
individual capacities, or to third parties.  We draw your attention to the Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies, which is available on Public 
Sector Audit Appointment’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently 
and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG’s work, in the first instance you 
should contact John Cornett, the engagement lead to the Authority, who will try to resolve your complaint. If you are dissatisfied with your response please contact 
the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, Andrew Sayers, by email to 
andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by 
emailing generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government 
House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ.

The contacts at KPMG 
in connection with this 
report are:

John Cornett
Director
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0116 256 6064 
john.cornett@kpmg.co.uk

Helen Brookes

Audit Manager 

KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 07919 228632

helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk

Jon Machej
Assistant Manager
KPMG LLP (UK)

Tel: 0115 935 3430
jon.machej@kpmg.co.uk

P
age 34

mailto:andrew.cardoza@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:helen.brookes@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:kanika.bassi@kpmg.co.uk


2© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Headlines

Introduction and 
background

This report summarises the results of work we have carried out on the Council’s 2014/15 grant claims and returns. 
This includes the work we have completed under the Public Sector Audit Appointment certification arrangements, as well as the
work we have completed on other grants/returns under separate engagement terms. The work completed in 2014/15 is:

■ Under the Public Sector Audit Appointment arrangements we certified one claim – the Council’s 2014/15 Housing Benefit Subsidy claim. 
This had a value of £19.6 million.

■ Under separate assurance engagements we also certified the Housing Pooling return.

-

Certification results Our work on the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy claim was subject to a qualification letter. 

■ As a result of issues identified in the previous year and, as a result of our initial work, it was necessary to perform:

o 100% testing in relation to six specific issues where we were able to effect claim adjustments; and

o 40+ testing in relation to six further issues from which we could not reach a conclusion as to whether the claim was fairly stated.

■ This is an increase in the amount of work from the previous year.

Our work on the Council’s Housing Pooling Return resulted in the following reports:

■ An unqualified assurance report was issued in respect of this return, although issues were noted in respect of:

o Previously reportable capital allowances being incorrectly recorded as relating to expenditure incurred in buying a relevant interest in 
a dwelling; and

o Capital receipts in respect of mortgage repayments had not been recorded in the appropriate quarter to which they related.

■ Cell amendments were agreed with the Council for these errors with neither having an effect on the amount of poolable receipts by the 
Council.

Pages 3 – 5

Audit adjustments Adjustments were necessary to both of the Council’s grants and returns as a result of our certification work this year.

■ Our work on the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim resulted in a reduction of subsidy claimed of £2,192; and

■ Whilst our work on the Housing Pooling return didn’t affect the amount of poolable receipts, amendments of £5,771,998 and £440 to 
differing cells were required.

■ The findings in respect of the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim are similar to those of the previous year whilst those in respect of the 
Housing Pooling return are new.

Pages 3 – 5

Fees The indicative fee for our work on the Council’s 2014/15 Housing Benefit Subsidy was set by Public Sector Audit Appointments at 
£8,120. The actual fee for this work was £9,390 which is still subject to determination by PSAA. 
Our fees for the other ‘assurance’ engagements were subject to agreement directly with the Council and were £3,000.

Page 6

P
age 35



3© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Comments 
overleaf Qualified Significant

adjustment
Minor

adjustment Unqualified

Public Sector Audit 
Appointments arrangements

■ Housing Benefit Subsidy

Other assurance engagements

■ Housing Pooling Return

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Summary of reporting outcomes

Detailed below is a summary of the reporting outcomes from our work on the Council’s 2014/15 grants and returns, showing where either audit 
amendments were made as a result of our work or where we had to qualify our audit certificate or assurance report. 

A qualification means that issues were identified concerning the Council’s compliance with a scheme’s requirements that could not be resolved 
through adjustment.  In these circumstances, it is likely that the relevant grant paying body will require further information from the Council to 
satisfy itself that the full amounts of grant claimed are appropriate.

Overall, we carried out work 
on two grants and returns:

■ one was unqualified but 
required some 
amendment to the final 
figures; and

■ one required a 
qualification to our audit 
certificate.

Detailed comments are 
provided overleaf.

1

2

P
age 36



4© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Summary of certification work outcomes

This table summarises the 
key issues behind each of 
the adjustments or 
qualifications that were 
identified on the previous 
page.

Ref Summary observations Amendment

 Housing Benefit Subsidy

■ Due to issues identified in the previous year and, as a result of our initial work it was necessary to perform 100% 
testing in relation to the following items/issues:

o Investigation of the impact of a system issue relating to the application of LHA rates where the LHA dates were 
being incorrectly overwritten. This resulted in an amendment to the claim being necessary, with a reduction in 
subsidy due of £232;

o All non-HRA rent rebate cases due to errors relating to rent liability, earnings and scheme type classification. This 
resulted in a number of small amendments to the claim being necessary, with a reduction in subsidy due of £7;

o All cases with a change in pensions to confirm the correctness of the effective date resulting in both under and 
over paid benefit for rent rebates. This resulted in a number of small amendments to the claim being necessary, 
with a reduction in subsidy due of £233;

o All cases with a service charge deduction within a rent liability to confirm the correctness of the eligible rent 
resulting in both under and over paid benefit and errors with no subsidy impact for rent allowances. This resulted 
in a number of small amendments to the claim being necessary, with a reduction in subsidy due of £1,720;

o All cases where an over-lapping tenancy existed to confirm the accuracy of the scheme type resulting in no 
additional identified errors for rent allowances; and

o All cases where an extended benefit period existed to confirm the correctness of the eligible rent resulting in no 
additional identified errors for rent allowances.

- £2,192

P
age 37



5© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Summary of certification work outcomes (continued.)

This table summarises the 
key issues behind each of 
the adjustments or 
qualifications that were 
identified on the previous 
page.

Ref Summary observations Amendment

 Housing Benefit Subsidy (continued.)

■ We had to issue a qualification letter due to various issues we identified as a result of our testing from which we 
could not reach a conclusion as to whether the claim was fairly stated. These issues included:

o Errors relating to the incorrect processing of weekly earnings resulting in both underpaid and misstated benefit for 
rent rebates;

o Errors relating to the incorrect processing of pension savings credits resulting in underpaid benefit for rent 
rebates;

o Errors relating to the incorrect application of the appropriate Local Housing Association (LHA) rate resulting in 
both underpaid benefit and errors with no subsidy impact for rent allowances;

o Errors relating to the incorrect processing of weekly earnings resulting in overpaid benefit for rent allowances;

o Errors relating to the incorrect termination date of a claim resulting in both under and over paid benefit for rent 
allowance; and

o Errors relating to the misclassification of overpayments within the claim form.

 Housing Pooling Return

■ Our work in relation to the certification of this return identified the following issues:

o £5,771,998 of previously reportable capital allowances had incorrectly been recorded as relating to expenditure 
incurred in buying a relevant interest in a dwelling; and

o Capital receipts in respect of mortgage repayments had not been recorded in the appropriate quarter to which 
they related.

■ Neither of these errors had an effect on the amount of poolable receipts by the Council.

■ In respect of these issues we were able to agree cell amendments with the Council to enable us to issue an 
unqualified assurance report for this return.

£0

P
age 38



6© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Breakdown of fees for grants and returns work

Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15
Fees

Public Sector Audit Appointments certification arrangements

Public Sector Audit Appointments set an indicative fee for our work on the Council’s Housing Benefit Subsidy claim in 2014/15 of £8,120. Our 
actual fee was £1,270 higher than the indicative fee, and this compares to the 2013/14 fee for this claim of £9,391. The final fee is still subject to 
determination by PSAA.

Grants subject to other assurance engagements

The fees for our assurance work on other grants/returns are agreed directly with the Council. Our fees for 2014/15 higher than in 2013/14. The 
reason for the increase was that an extended, mandatory testing programme was introduced in 2014/15 as a requirement for this assurance work 
being undertaken. 

Our fees for the Housing 
Benefit Subsidy claim are 
set by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments. 

Our fees for other assurance 
engagements on 
grants/returns are agreed 
directly with the Council.

The overall fees we charged 
for carrying out all our work 
on grants/returns in 2014/15 
was £12,390.

Breakdown of fee by grant/return

2014/15 (£) 2013/14 (£)
Housing Benefit Subsidy claim 9,390 9,391
Housing Pooling Return 3,000 218
Total fee 12,390 9,609

P
age 39



© 2015 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the 
KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. All rights 
reserved.

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered 
trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International. 

P
age 40



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Audit & Risk Manager (Audit Lincolnshire) and Executive Director - 
Commercialisation

To: Governance & Audit Committee – 3 March 2016

(Author: Lucy Pledge – Head of Audit & Risk Management (Audit 
Lincolnshire)
Julie Kennealy – Executive Director – Commercialisation

Subject: Internal Audit Update Report

Purpose: To update the Committee on progress with the Audit Plan – 
December 2015 to mid-February 2016

Recommendation: 

1) That the Committee considers the content and outcomes of Internal Audit 
work and identifies any action required

1.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY MESSAGES

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:

 Advise of progress being made with the 2015/16 Audit Plan
 Provide details of the audit work during the period
 Provide details of the current position with agreed management actions 

in respect of previously issued reports
 Update the committee on any changes to the 2015/16 Audit Plan and any 

other matters that may be relevant to the Governance and Audit 
Committee role.

Key Messages 

1.2 Since the last progress report we have completed 7 audits – 4 to final report 
stage and 3 to draft report. 

1.3 Work is progressing with the 2015/16 plan as follows:

 Audits days complete 73%
 Audits in progress 27%

1.4 Details of audit areas and the audit schedule are given in Appendix 3. All work 
is planned for completion by the end of March 2016.

Page 41

Agenda Item 6.



1.5 Following discussion with the Executive Director – Commercialism, the 
following changes to the Internal Audit Plan 2015/16 are proposed with the 
revised plan days now being 182 (including subsidy)).

Deletions from the Plan:

Audit Reason for Change Days Assurance for Head 
of Internal Audit 
opinion (March 2016)

CSU Management have a 
comprehensive review of the CSU 
in progress and therefore there 
would be no benefit in completing 
an internal audit at this time.

12 Assurances to be 
gained from 
independent review. 

Combined 
Assurance

Given other work in progress, 
management consider it is not 
appropriate to undertake this work 
at present.

10 Assurances to be 
gained through 
Management, 1st line 
of assurance.

 

  
1.7 As discussed with the Committee at the last meeting, we have completed a 

follow up with managers on progress with all outstanding audit 
recommendations. In future the Council plans to track audit recommendations 
through the Covalent performance management system. Whilst the majority of 
recommendations made on audits from the 2014/15 plan have been 
implemented, a number of High Priority recommendations remain outstanding 
(please see 1.13 below). 

 

Internal Audit work completed from September to November 2015

1.8 The following audit work has been completed and a final report issued: 

High Substantial Limited 
Assurance

Low

Income
Human Resources

ICT – Software
ICT – Strategy & 
Projects

Note: The Governance & Audit Committee should note that the assurance 
expressed is at the time of issue of the report but before the full implementation of 
the agreed management action plan.  Definitions levels are shown in Appendix 1. 

Page 42



1.9 In the audits given Substantial Assurance, we confirmed that the Council has 
sound processes in place as follows:

Income

1.10 Our review of the arrangements to collect, record and bank income from three 
service areas (car parking, the South Holland Centre and planning) found that 
the processes are working well and therefore the risk of fraud, error or loss of 
income is low.  We confirmed that:

 Income received can be traced to records held by the services
 Income has generally been coded correctly in the ledger
 Unders and overs are recorded and subject to a supervisory review at the 

South Holland Centre
 Where there is a transfer of income between officers this is evidenced
 Receipts or tickets are issued appropriately
 Income is being banked regularly
 Payments made on line are regularly accounted for and coded correctly in 

the general ledger

To further strengthen the security of cash, we have highlighted areas where 
we recommend increased independent checking and review of access to 
income collected.

Human Resources

Our review of the HR service delivery by Compass Point Business Services 
found that they are delivering the activities set out in the workplan and that 
there are effective arrangements in place to monitor delivery both by SHDC 
and within CPBS. 

 72% of the tasks on the work plan have been delivered, with a further four 
as work in progress and four on hold due to the transformation programme 
superseding the initial work identified.  

 Regular meetings are held both within the HR team and with the Client
 Performance is monitored through Covalent and reported to the Client 

As many of the measures in the SLA are not being reported it is not possible 
to confirm that the HR function is delivering a service in accordance with the 
SLA.  As part of the document's planned review, management should consider 
whether there is any benefit in including measures that are not monitored or 
reported.

Some performance information cannot be reported to the Client because the 
data is either not held on or cannot be extracted from the AX software used by 
HR due to its limited functionality.  This has been recognised by both SHDC 
and CPBS and a decision was made in November 2015 to move to the iTrent 
system operated by Breckland District Council during 2016/17.  Reporting 

Page 43



should be greatly improved and processes more automated which should free 
up capacity within the HR team.

Measures included in the SLA around learning and development are not being 
delivered.  Currently CPBS do not have the expertise to deliver training to 
SHDC, other than Health and Safety.

Audits in Progress

1.11 Our reviews of Benefits, Bank Reconciliation and ICT 
Access/Starters/Leavers/Movers are at draft report stage and awaiting 
agreement from management for final issue.

1.12 The following 2015/16 audits are currently in progress:

Contract Management 
Our review will provide independent assurance that the Council's arrangement 
with Procurement Lincolnshire for procurement advice and support is fit for 
purpose and delivers benefits that support the Council's priorities.

Performance Management
Our review is focusing on the implementation of the Council's new 
performance management system Covalent, including providing assurance 
that: 

 the system was procured in line with Council's regulations
 adequate testing was completed to ensure the system met Council needs 

prior to general roll out
 the system supports the Council's performance management framework 

and reporting requirements
 access to the system is appropriately controlled

Finance Systems – General Ledger
This is a joint audit with ELDC and we will be seeking to provide assurance 
that the system is kept up to date, transactions are accurate and appropriately 
authorised and that access is restricted.

Finance Systems – Key Control Testing
Each year we undertake testing of key controls within the main financial 
systems (Bank reconciliation, income, payroll, Accounts Payable, Revenues, 
Accounts Receivable & Property Plant & Equipment).  The majority of this 
work is being undertaken by our colleagues from ELDC's Internal Audit Team. 
The assurance from this testing informs the Head of Internal Audit's annual 
audit opinion and the work of the External Auditors.

1.13 We are preparing audits for: 

Budget Management - Client brief being agreed.

Page 44



Follow Up of Outstanding Audit Recommendations

1.13 We have followed up outstanding audit recommendations from audits 
completed between 2013/14 and 2015/16. There are high priority 
recommendations outstanding in respect of seven audits and progress is as 
follows:

HMO Licensing
The review of the HMO Policy and formal application of enforcement action 
has been delayed due to a change in job roles and pending the outcome of 
the completion of a business case for additional resources. A revised 
completion date has been set of 31st March 2016.

Housing Revenue Account 
The review of the risk register is on-going and is to be completed by 29th 
February 2016. 

ICT Strategy & Projects
A number of actions to improve the governance arrangements for ICT projects 
are on-going with a revised implementation date of 31st June 2015.

Information Governance
The application of induction and staff training and the update of the document 
retention policy have been delayed due to the volume of work. There is no 
revised completion date.

Mobile Devices 
Remote working policies have been reviewed by CPBS and are awaiting 
approval by SHDC and ELDC with a completion date of 29th February 2016.

Procurement – 
The Council is currently reviewing its approach to procurement to ensure that 
appropriate governance arrangements are put in place. This work will be 
completed by 31st March 2016.

Property Services & Gas Servicing 
Most recommendations have been implemented and others are in progress. 
The implementation of the action plan produced by an independent inspection 
of housing gas safety management will be complete by 31st March 2016. 

Performance Information

1.14 The programme of work for 2015/16 is shown at Appendix 3

1.15 Our current 2015/16 performance against targets is shown below: 

Page 45



Performance Indicator Target Actual @ January 
2016

Percentage of 15/16 plan 
completed.

100% 
(revised plan)

73%

Percentage of key financial 
systems completed.

100% Annual Indicator

Percentage of recommendations 
agreed.

100% 100%

Percentage of recommendations 
implemented 15/16 audits falling 
due

100% or escalated 70%

Timescales Draft report issued within 
10 working days of 
completing audit. (target 
100%)

Final report issued within 
5 working days of 
closure meeting / receipt 
of management 
responses. (target 
100%)

Audit completed to draft 
report stage within two 
months of starting 
fieldwork (target 80%)

100%

100%

100%

Client Feedback on Audit (average) Good to excellent Excellent

Note – details relate to audit work at final report stage.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Consider the content and outcomes of Internal Audit work and identify any 
action required.

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To monitor Internal Audit progress including the results of Audit work.

Page 46



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 To meet the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference in monitoring the work of 
Internal Audit.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Carbon 
Footprint/Environmental issue implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The progress report forms part of the Committee’s agreed Work Plan, and is 
linked to the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requirement to undertake 
an effective internal audit.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Contract 
implications.  However, it should be noted that Contract Management is an 
area to be audited as part of the Internal Audit Plan and Schedule for 2015/16.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Corporate Priority 
implications.  However, some areas that have been, or in the future will be 
audited have links to SHDC’s Corporate Priorities

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Crime and 
Disorder implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Equality and 
Diversity/Human Rights implications.  However, there could be some impact 
as a result of any recommendations arising from the process or individual 
audits.  Any Equality and Diversity /Human Rights issues arising will be taken 
into consideration

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Reduction in Audit Plan cost.

Page 47



5.8 Risk Management 

5.8.1 Internal Audit undertakes work under an agreed Audit Plan to ensure that the 
Council has sound processes in place.
Their critical review or assessment of activities establishes the situation with 
the Authority regarding service delivery arrangements, management of risks 
and the operation of controls and/or performance.

5.9 Staffing

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct Staffing 
implications.  However, there could be some impact as a result of any 
recommendations arising from the process or individual audits.  Any Staffing 
issues arising will be taken into consideration.

5.10 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no direct 
Stakeholder/Consultation/Timescale implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards/communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ICT Information Communication Technology
CPBS Compass Point Business Services
SHDC South Holland District Council
NNDR National Non Domestic Rates
HRA Housing Revenue Account
CMT Corporate Management Team
FOI Freedom of Information
EIR Environmental Information Regulations
CSU Construction Services Unit
ELDC East Lindsey District Council
HMO Housing in Multiple Occupation

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name/Post: Lucy Pledge - Head of Audit & Risk Management, Audit Lincolnshire
Telephone Number: 01522 553692
Email: lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting:  
Lucy Pledge – Head of Audit & Risk Management – Audit Lincolnshire; 
Julie Castledine – Principal Auditor – Audit Lincolnshire

Page 48



Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Assurance Definitions
Appendix 2 – Audits with Limited Assurance
Appendix 3 – Internal Audit Plan & Schedule

Page 49



Appendix 1 - Assurance Definitions1 

High Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a high level of 
confidence on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, and the 
operation of controls and / or performance.  

The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low.  
Controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are operating 
effectively.

Substantial Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a substantial level of 
confidence (assurance) on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, 
and operation of controls and / or performance.

There are some improvements needed in the application of controls to manage 
risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and 
operating sufficiently so that the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives is 
medium to low.  

 

Limited Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a limited level of 
confidence on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, and 
operation of controls and / or performance.

The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be operating or 
are inadequate. Therefore, the controls evaluated are unlikely to give a 
reasonable level of confidence (assurance) that the risks are being managed 
effectively.  It is unlikely that the activity will achieve its objectives.

Low
Our critical review or assessment on the activity identified significant concerns 
on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, and operation of 
controls and / or performance.

There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key risks or the 
controls have been evaluated as not adequate, appropriate or are not being 
effectively operated. Therefore the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives 
is high.

1 These definitions are used as a means of measuring or judging the results and impact of matters 
identified in the audit. The assurance opinion is based on information and evidence which came to our 
attention during the audit.  Our work cannot provide absolute assurance that material errors, loss or 
fraud do not exist. 

Page 50



Appendix 2 – Audits where assurance is assessed as ‘Limited” or “Low”

ICT Strategy and Projects
Introduction and Scope 
The delivery of ICT for the Councils (South Holland and East Lindsey) is via a shared 
service, Compass Point Business Services (CPBS).  CPBS manages the 
infrastructure, applications and also ICT projects and programmes which are 
identified as necessary by and for the partners or for CPBS in its capacity as 
provider. 

It is recognised that the CPBS arrangement operates very much as a partnership and 
not as a traditional client / contractor outsourced contract. The recommendations 
within this report should be viewed within that context.

This review sets out to provide assurance about the strategic direction which drives 
CPBS and also the resulting programmes and projects to ensure they deliver what 
the client organisations want and require to a satisfactory standard.

An ICT Strategy should help support the Council in delivering its corporate objectives 
by helping ensure that priorities are formally captured, costed and programmed.

ELDC and SHDC are facing challenges from reduced funding and increasing 
customer expectations. Technology is a key part of current and future service 
delivery and ICT solutions will underpin many of the councils' Corporate Plan 
objectives. ICT can be used to drive business change and to control and develop the 
continued delivery of cost-effective services.

An ICT Strategy can include reference to underlying ICT infrastructure; business 
software; Information management and security; partners and suppliers; ICT 
governance and management of ICT resources.

An effective project management / programme management of ICT projects is also 
key to delivering the right projects at the right time, within budget (time and 
resources) and meeting the original business need.

Executive Summary 

Assurance Opinion

Limited Assurance
      

Key areas relating to strategy and projects need to be developed significantly 

Page 51



further.

• There is no current ICT strategy. Without this CPBS and Client authorities are 
at risk of focusing on the wrong things which could impact on the delivery of 
Corporate priorities.  A formal strategy should be developed and finalised as 
soon as possible. This should also enable CPBS to develop its own clear 
“operating strategy” or plan and technical delivery model in response.

• Formal oversight of ICT projects and programmes needs to be improved. 
ELDC have recently introduced a dedicated project/programme board and 
this should also be considered by SHDC. Without more formal oversight the 
delivery of corporate objectives may be affected and communication around 
strategic issues affecting all partners may be less effective.

• There is no standard, formal project management methodology used. CPBS 
should utilise minimum project management protocols and documentation 
standards. Without this projects and programmes are at a greater risk of 
failure.

• Whilst there has been recent discussion on forward (project) priorities with 
Clients, discussion on existing and upcoming projects needs to be 
formalised. This should ensure that it is undertaken consistently and 
outcomes recorded, shared and acted upon.

   
Key Messages

There is effectively still no formal ICT strategy document against which to monitor 
activity, successes and failures. There is an informal understanding between 
organisations of the work that is required but this has yet to be approved via the 
strategy. There is a draft strategy which, at the time of the audit, had not been 
adopted and was therefore not made available to us to review and comment upon.

Whilst there have been some recent discussions, more structured and formal 
direction from the client councils to CPBS to inform the strategic thinking and 
development planning could be put in place. There is an expectation by clients that 
this information will be fed back into the draft strategy document. The client 
expectation is also that CPBS will lead on strategy development.

There were no structured forums such as a strategy group, or programme / project 
boards to report formally to, or who will monitor progress and determine priorities. 
ELDC have recently introduced a dedicated project Board and there is some current 
reporting into management teams.

A limited form of project management is in place in CPBS ICT but this is not mature. 
No clear programme management is in place. Very significant projects are managed 
by the Programme Management Office (PMO) and reported to CPBS Management 

Page 52



Team.  By number, this is approximately seven or eight out of a total of 80+. The 
remainder are allocated to ICT team members to progress. Industry standard working 
methodologies such as Prince2 have not been adopted although elements exist 
within processes or activities. Targets are not set for all projects.

Work streams have been developed based on knowledge of and discussions 
between CPBS and councils’ representatives at operational level. These discussions 
have increased recently with more focus on forward properties. . Prioritisation of 
these is largely left to the CPBS ICT management team, now influenced by the 
recently commenced discussions. 

Management Response 

A review of staffing numbers is currently being undertaken with the assistance of 
Socatim to ascertain the required headcount necessary to deliver both the 
outstanding project list and the business as usual levels required to operate the 
department. The information will be presented to the CPBS Board when complete. 
Presently we are moving the department workflow to a capacity driven model which 
although extending delivery times, should allow more accurate forecasting of 
achievable dates. This should support moving the department from a permanent 
reactive position as is currently the case. 

Response from CPBS

The client Councils are working with CPBS to ensure that the findings highlighted 
within this report are addressed.

Management Actions No All to be completed by:

High Priority 4 31 March 2016

Medium Priority 1 31 December 2015

Page 53



Internal Audit Review of ICT - Software 

Introduction and Scope 

The delivery of ICT for the Councils (South Holland and East Lindsey) is delivered via 
a shared service, Compass Point Business Services (CPBS).

CPBS manages the infrastructure and its components, ICT projects and programmes 
and manages the software portfolio on behalf of the councils.

This review sets out to provide assurance about the effective management of 
software (including device firmware) to ensure there are no licensing issues or 
security vulnerabilities, and also to ensure that there is effective planning for future 
requirements.

Executive Summary 

Assurance Opinion  

Limited Assurance

 
                    

There is limited understanding of current software licensing arrangements, although 
new software has recently been procured to help manage this review process. This 
is a significant project with over 700 items that require formal licences. Previous 
work in this area was stopped following departure of the responsible officer and 
previous software used was found not to be effective. There could be a risk that 
products are not correctly licenced which may have a financial impact; there is also 
the resource impact to undertake this project within a reasonable timescale.  
Resources therefore need to be identified and prioritised to ensure that this is 
completed as soon as possible, tackling the highest risk areas first.

IT devices on the Network are recorded within the Service Desk System. As part of 
our testing we found that key information was missing in several instances including 
details of maintenance agreements, renewal dates, patching information. We have 
therefore limited assurance that devices are properly maintained. There is a risk that 
the Network becomes less secure and operates less effectively if key information is 
not recorded and acted upon. All hardware devices should be reviewed and brought 
up to date in terms of critical maintenance data within Support Works.

In our current audit on ICT Strategy and Projects, the lack of a formal strategy and a 
formal process to identify future system/software requirements means that future 

Page 54



software acquisition or development of current software may not be appropriate. We 
have outlined our findings separately in this report.

We identified some direct software acquisition by the clients, without reference to 
CPBS.  This could ultimately cause programme and compatibility issues and 
possibly poor value for money or wasted resources. Clients should be reminded to 
engage with CPBS in all instances.

Although there has been some recent work on developing an (Information Assets) 
risk management document (Review date January 2015) which was prepared in 
response to PSN risks, there is no additional and generic ICT risk register which 
could capture other aspects of the service.

CPBS have an experienced application manager and there is a budget provided to 
CPBS by its partner organisations for procurement of software and hardware 
maintenance.

   
Key Messages

The management of software licenses has required to be revised and re-assessed 
within the last year. The previous arrangement had fallen behind in terms of 
maintaining accurate records of software and licensing requirements. At present, 
CPBS is able to detect what software products are installed around the installation 
because it has purchased and installed a new product (SNOW) to manage this area. 
However, it is not yet in a position to be able to show whether this is over or under 
actual requirements. A reconciliation of each individual software product needs to 
take place and the SNOW application reports that up to 777 products require license 
information to be constructed in SNOW and then maintained.

CPBS cannot currently accurately reconcile its actual (software installed) position 
with its software purchased position. However, it is likely that many of the 777 will be 
one-off products and straight forward (and low risk). However, there are some 
significant software items for which this reconciliation must take place. The resources 
required to build the rules within the new product should not be underestimated and 
there may be lost opportunities to save money on licenses whilst this project remains 
outstanding.

The task of reviewing how best to utilise this software is currently with the Application 
Manager who then intends to cascade the work down into the team. At present, only 
one software item (Microsoft Office) has been fully reconciled. There are a number of 
complex licensing arrangements for which to build profiles in the application and this 
work will be time consuming. 

The network devices are documented on a schematic diagram and the key 
information about the devices should be held and maintained up to date in Support 
Works (service desk system). We found that Support Works was out of date in a 
number of areas and did not hold some key information such as maintenance 
contract end dates, software versions.

Page 55



It was also found that some of the devices were not operating on the latest versions 
of the operating software.

It was also noted that there are still a small number of legacy (old Windows XP 
operating system) devices on the network which are known and being managed. 
They are few in number and need to be kept due to the issue of the business 
application being operated on it not having been upgraded and will not operate on 
later versions of Windows.

Audit would like to thank the staff within CPBS who assisted with this audit.

Management Response 

A review of staffing numbers is currently being undertaken with the assistance of 
Socitim to ascertain the required headcount necessary to deliver both the 
outstanding project list and the business as usual levels required to operate the 
department. The information will be presented to the CPBS Board when complete.

Recognising that accurate licensing and control of such is a core necessary function, 
the work necessary to bring the licensing up to date will have to be a focused piece 
of work representing a significant period. We will update on this when the staffing 
review has been completed.

CPBS

The client Councils are working with CPBS to ensure the findings highlighted by this 
report are addressed.

END OF APPENDIX 2

Management Actions No All to be completed by:

High Priority 3 31 March 2016

Medium Priority 3 29 February 2016

Page 56



Appendix 3 Internal Audit Plan and Schedule 2015/16

Area Days Indicative Scope Planned 
Start Date

Actual 
Start Date

Final 
Report 
Issued

Status / 
Assurance Level 
Given

Quarter 1
Housing Benefit Subsidy 
testing

25 Part of the grant claims audit by the External 
Auditor

June 2015 June 2015 N/A Complete 

Quarter 2
Housing – Planned 
Maintenance

12+3 We will review the housing planned 
maintenance programme to ensure effective 
management and delivery of housing 
modernisation projects, which support the 
Council’s Housing objectives.

Additional days covering system migration.

July 2015 August 
2015

November 
2015

Complete

Key control testing 

4.Income*
5.Payroll*

15
(all key 

controls)

Delivery of key control testing to enable the 
Head of Internal Audit to form an opinion on 
the Council’s financial control environment.

Revised 
Feb 16.

Feb 2016 Testing in progress

Key Income areas / 
collection and banking

12 Risk based review:

Car parking
Planning 
South Holland Centre

Sept 2015 Oct 2015 Dec 2015 Complete

Housing Rents 12 Risk Based review. July 2015 July 2015 Oct 2015 Complete

P
age 57



Area Days Indicative Scope Planned 
Start Date

Actual 
Start Date

Final 
Report 
Issued

Status / 
Assurance Level 
Given

Quarter 3
Construction Services 
Unit (CSU)

Removed from the plan

Contract Management 10 Rolled forward audit from 2014/15.

To provide assurance that the Council's 
arrangement with Procurement Lincolnshire 
for procurement advice and support is fit for 
purpose and delivers benefits that support 
the Council's priorities.

Nov / Dec 
15

Jan 2016 Fieldwork in 
progress

Key Control Testing -

1.Accounts Payable*
2.Council Tax/NNDR*

See 
above

Delivery of key control testing to enable the 
Head of Internal Audit to form an opinion on 
the Council’s financial control environment.

Revised

March 16
Dec 15 
/Jan 16

Feb 2016 Testing in progress

Housing Benefits 10 + 5 Risk Based review:

To provide assurance that there are sound 
internal controls within the administration of 
housing benefits and that the Councils' 
resources are being protected.

A key focus will be substantive testing on 
the accuracy of claims processing and their 
classification within a Housing Benefits 
Subsidy Claim.

Nov 2015 Dec 2015 Draft report

People Management 12 The relationship between the Council and 
CPBS to assess the effectiveness of Human 

Oct 2015 Oct 2015 Feb 2016 Complete

P
age 58



Area Days Indicative Scope Planned 
Start Date

Actual 
Start Date

Final 
Report 
Issued

Status / 
Assurance Level 
Given

Resources service delivery by CPBS.

Combined Assurance Removed from the Plan

Quarter 4
Key Control Testing -
1.Bank reconciliation*
2.Accounts Receivable*
3. Property, Plant & 
Equipment*

See 
above

Delivery of key control testing to enable the 
Head of Internal Audit to form an opinion on 
the Council’s financial control environment.

Revised 
Mar 16

Feb 2016 Testing in progress

Budget management* 6 Risk Based review Revised 
March 16

General Ledger* 6 Risk based review Revised 
Feb 16

Feb 2016 Fieldwork in 
progress

Performance 
management follow up

15 Follow up review to a previous Limited 
assurance report. 

Our work will include a review of the 
introduction of the Covalent performance 
management system.

Jan 16 Feb 2016 Fieldwork in 
progress

ICT Audit 20 ICT Disaster Recovery*

Access/Starters/Leavers/Movers*

*Joint reviews with ELDC

Jan 16

Nov 15

Fieldwork in 
progress
Draft report

P
age 59



Area Days Indicative Scope Planned 
Start Date

Actual 
Start Date

Final 
Report 
Issued

Status / 
Assurance Level 
Given

Other relevant areas
Follow up of 
recommendations

5 Ongoing 
quarterly

Non-Audit
Advice / liaison 6 Ongoing
Annual Report 2 Completed
Audit Committee 6 Ongoing

Total Audit Plan for 
2015/16

182

Other Work

ICT Strategy & Project 
Management

10 March 
2015

Jan 2016 Complete

ICT Software      10 March 
2015

Jan 2016 Complete

Risk Management      10 Risk management extended advice. Jan 2016 B/F 2014/15

*Selected financial audits will be completed by ELDC auditors (see asterix* audits). The ELDC audit team is an Audit Lincolnshire partner. 
ELDC are also the lead auditors for CPBS.  For the selected audits ELDC apply an equal resource and undertake a joint audit. For ICT ELDC 
have a 15 day ICT audit allocation.

P
age 60



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Internal Audit Consortium Manager

To: Governance and Audit Committee - 3 March 2016

Author: Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Subject: Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2016/17

Purpose: This report provides an overview of the stages followed prior to the 
formulation of the Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17 to 2018/19 and the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17. 
The Annual Internal Audit Plan will then serve as the work programme for the 
Council’s Internal Audit Services Contractor; TIAA Ltd. 
It will also provide the basis for the Annual Audit Opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of South Holland District Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.

Recommendations:

1) That the Committee notes and approves:

a) the Internal Audit Charter for 2016/17;
b) the Internal Audit Strategy for 2016/17;
c) the Strategic Internal Audit Plans 2016/17 to 2018/19; and
d) the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2016/17.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 Those standards are set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which 
came into effect in April 2013.

1.3 The attached report contains; 

o the Internal Audit Charter which formally defines the internal audit’s purpose, 
authority and responsibility, and is a mandatory document. The charter also displays 
formal commitment to the definition of internal auditing, the code of ethics and the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards; 

o the Internal Audit Strategy, which is  a strategic high level statement on how the 
internal audit service will be delivered and developed in accordance with the charter 
and how it links to the organisational objectives and priorities;

o the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, which details the plan of work for the next 3 
financial years;

o the Annual Internal Audit Plan, which details the timing and the purpose of each 
audit agreed for inclusion in 2016/17; and

o provides the Committee with the performance measures against which the new 
contractor will be monitored.

Page 61

Agenda Item 7.



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Committee notes and approves the Charter, Strategy and Plans detailed within the 
recommendations

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The risk-based internal audit plans will add real value to the Council, have a defined and 
specific scope for each review and ensure that risks in relation to the service area are being 
reviewed by Internal Audit, thus enabling best practice to be followed.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s key business risks will be addressed by Internal Audit, thus ensuring that 
appropriate controls are in place to mitigate such risks and also ensure that the appropriate 
and proportionate level of action is taken.

4.2 The Internal Audit Service will be seen to add value, become a useful management tool 
and link more directly to the Council’s risk management processes

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 Internal Audit helps to ensure that the service areas and risks reviewed are working 
towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

5.2 Financial

5.2.1 The Internal Audit Service is provided by way of a Partnership Agreement with South 
Norfolk Council, whereby South Norfolk Council provide the role of the Head of Internal 
Audit and Contract Manager to South Holland District Council, and the service provision i.e. 
delivery of the audits, is provided through a contract with TIAA Ltd. The 2016/17 plans have 
been set within the approved budget.

5.3 Risk Management 

5.3.1 The Risk Based Internal Audit approach will ensure that the Council’s key risks are 
accurately reviewed and updated and thus the Internal Audit Service is adding value and 
auditing the key risk areas.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1 The Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans for 2016/17 and the Internal Audit Charter 
have been consulted upon with Senior Managers, and the Corporate Management Team, 
prior to coming to the Audit Committee. They will also be shared with the External Auditors.

Page 62



Background papers: None

Lead Contact Officer:

Name and Post:  Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager
Telephone Number:  01508 533791
Email:  ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting:

Emma Hodds, Internal Audit Consortium Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision:  No

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A  Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2016/17

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 22

APPENDIX A

Eastern Internal Audit Services

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 20xx/xx

Responsible Officer: Emma Hodds – Internal Audit Consortium Manager

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................2
2. AUDIT CHARTER............................................................................................................2
3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY .......................................................................................3
4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN ...........................................................................3
5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN .................................................................................3
6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT ..................................................................................4
APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER ......................................................................5
APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY ..................................................................13
APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN.......................................................17
APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN ...............................................................19
APPENDIX 5 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES ...................................................................22

Page 65



Page 2 of 22

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that “a relevant authority must undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance”.

1.2 The PSIAS mandate a periodic preparation of a risk-based plan, which must incorporate or 
be linked to a strategic high level statement on how the internal audit service will be 
delivered and developed in accordance with the charter and how it links to the organisational 
objectives and priorities, this is set out in the Internal Audit Strategy.

1.3 Risk is defined as 'the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact on the 
achievement of objectives’. Risk can be a positive and negative aspect, so as well as 
managing things that could have an adverse impact (downside risk) it is also important to 
look at potential benefits (upside risk).

1.4 The development of a risk-based plan takes into account the organisation's risk 
management framework. The process identifies the assurance (and consulting) assignments 
for a specific period, by identifying and prioritising all those areas on which objective 
assurance is required. This is then also applied when carrying out individual risk based 
assignments to provide assurance on part of the risk management framework, including the 
mitigation of individual or groups of risks. 

1.5 The following factors are also taken into account when developing the internal audit plan:

 Any declarations of interest so as to avoid conflicts of interest;
 The requirements of the use of specialists e.g. IT auditors;
 Striking the right balance over the range of reviews needing to be delivered, for 

example systems and risk based reviews, specific key controls testing, value for 
money and added value reviews;

 The relative risk maturity of the Council;
 Allowing contingency time to undertake ad-hoc reviews or fraud investigations as 

necessary;
 The time required to carry out the audit planning process effectively as well as 

regular reporting to and attendance at Governance and Audit Committee, the 
development of the annual report and opinion and the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme.

1.6 In accordance with best practice the Governance and Audit Committee should ‘review and 
assess the annual internal audit work plan’. 

2. AUDIT CHARTER

2.1 The Audit Charter incorporates the requirements of the PSIAS. There is an obligation under 
the PSIAS for the Charter to be periodically reviewed and presented. This Charter is 
therefore reviewed annually by the Internal Audit Consortium Manager to confirm its ongoing 
validity and completeness. In addition the Charter will be presented to the Section 151 
Officer, senior management and the Governance and Audit Committee every 2 years for 
review. 

2.2 The updates for the 2016/17 financial year were made to reflect the operation of the internal 
audit team, under the new contract with TIAA Ltd, which commenced on 1 April 2015, and to 
take on board improvements made to the service during the 2015/16 financial year. This 

Page 66



Page 3 of 22

updated Charter is attached at Appendix 1, for review and approval by the Governance and 
Audit Committee.

2.3 As part of the review of the Audit Charter the Code of Ethics are also reviewed  by the 
Internal Audit Consortium Manager, and it is ensured that the Internal Audit Services 
contractor staff, as well as the Internal Audit Consortium Manager adhere to these, 
specifically with regard to; integrity, objectivity, confidentiality and competency. Formal sign 
off to acceptance of the Code of Ethics is retained by the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager.

3. INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

3.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Strategy (see Appendix 2) is to confirm:

 How internal audit services will be delivered;
 How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 How internal audit services links to organisational objectives and priorities; and
 How the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

4. STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

4.1 The overarching objective of the Strategic Audit Plan (see Appendix 3) is to provide a 
comprehensive programme of review work over the next three years, with each year 
providing sufficient audit coverage to give annual opinions, which can be used to inform the 
organisation’s Annual Governance Statement.

4.2 The coverage over the forthcoming three years has been discussed with senior 
management to ensure audits are undertaken at the right time and at a time where value can 
be added. These discussions also went into greater detail in relation to the scope of the 
audits for the forthcoming year.

5. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

5.1 Having developed the Strategic Internal Audit Plan, the Annual Internal Audit Plan is an 
extract of this for the forthcoming financial year (see Appendix 4). This details the areas 
being reviewed by Internal Audit, the number of days for each review, the quarter during 
which the audit will take place and a brief summary / purpose of the review.  

5.2 The Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17 totals 160 days, encompassing:

 Nine assignments which will be provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services 
concluding in an audit opinion (four of which will be joint audits with Breckland DC), 

 two reviews where advice and guidance will be concluded at the end of the review, 
 IT audits (totaling 20 days) which are yet to be determined. A meeting is booked in to 

determine coverage and an update will be provided to the Committee at the next 
report; and 

 Four assignments to be completed by East Lindsey DC, three of which will conclude 
in an audit opinion, and the final area relates to Housing Benefit Subsidy testing.

5.3 Audit verification work concerning audit recommendations implemented to improve the 
Council’s internal control environment will also be undertaken throughout the financial year.

Page 67



Page 4 of 22

5.4 The role of project management at the Council is becoming ever more important, with the 
Programme Delivery Manager (Shared) endeavouring to roll out a consistent approach to 
this and embedding the tools and techniques across the Council(s). It is planned that the 
Internal Audit Consortium Manager will undertake a critical friend role in key projects.

5.5 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager is a member of the Finance Board which has 
established terms of reference, part of these terms of reference include - “be the link to the 
Transformation Board by monitoring Transformation Business cases to ensure benefits 
realisation”. This element of the terms of reference ensures that the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager is aware of the projects that are underway as part of this programme, 
thus ensuring that audits are undertaken at the right time; this can be prior to the project, 
mid-way or at the end, and it also ensures that advice and guidance in relation to benefits 
realisation can be gleamed from the internal audit contractor at the right time. 

5.6 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager is also a member of the Performance, Audit and 
Risk Board, which also has established terms of reference. Through this Board audit 
recommendations can be escalated for action / review should such action be necessary, and 
also ensures that a strategic view of the action / resource needed to address audit 
recommendations is achieved. Being a member of this Board also provides the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager with an insight into performance measures and risks that the Council is 
managing, both of which is integral information for the audit plan.

6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

6.1 The new Internal Audit Services contract includes a suite of key performance indicators (see 
Appendix 5) against which the new contractor will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. There 
are a total of 13 indicators, over 4 areas. From the first year of the contract records will be 
maintained for all 13, however performance can only be recorded on 11 of these as base 
line data is required for the final 2. Monitoring of these will commence in 2017/18.

6.2 There are individual requirements for performance in relation to each indicator; however 
performance will be assessed on an overall basis as follows (for the first year):

 9-11 KPIs have met target = Green Status.
 5-8 KPIs have met target = Amber Status.
 4 or below have met target = Red Status.

Where performance is amber or red a Performance Improvement Plan will be developed and 
agreed with the contractor to ensure that appropriate action is taken.

6.3 Performance in relation to these indicators will be reported to the Committee as part of the 
Progress Reports and the Annual Report and Opinion, ensuring that Members are kept up to 
date on a regular basis.

Page 68



Page 5 of 22

APPENDIX 1 – INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCILS

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER FOR 2016/17

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came into effect from 1 April 2013, these 
provide a consolidated approach across the public sector thus ensuring continuity, sound 
corporate governance and transparency.

1.2 The Standards require all internal audit services to implement, monitor and review an 
internal audit charter; this formally defines the internal audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility, and is a mandatory document. The charter also displays formal commitment 
to the definition of internal auditing, the code of ethics and the PSIAS.

1.3 The charter also:
 Establishes the position and reporting lines of internal audit;
 Provides unrestricted access;
 Sets the tone for internal audit activities;
 Defines the nature and scope of internal audit services, in particular assurance and 

consultancy services; and
 Sets out the nature and scope of assurance provided to other parties.

1.4 The charter is to be periodically reviewed and presented to Senior Management and the 
Board (Audit Committee / Governance & Audit Committee) for approval, for Eastern Internal 
Audit Services the charter will be reviewed annually by the Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager (Chief Audit Executive) to confirm its ongoing completeness and validity, and 
presented to Senior Management and the Board every 2 years for review.

1.5 This Charter applies to all Authority’s which are part of Eastern Internal Audit Services, 
currently; Breckland, Broadland, North Norfolk and South Norfolk District Councils, Gt 
Yarmouth Borough Council and the Broads Authority. From April 2016 this will also include 
South Holland District Council.

2. Purpose, Authority and Responsibility

2.1 Purpose

2.1.1 Internal auditing is defined as; “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

2.1.2 Internal audit will provide reasonable assurance to all organisations that are part of Eastern 
Internal Audit Services that necessary arrangements are in place and operating effectively, 
and to identify risk exposures and areas where improvements can be made.

Page 69



Page 6 of 22

2.2 Authority

2.2.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2015, states that the relevant body must; 
“undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance”. The statutory requirement for internal audit is recognised in the 
Constitution of each Authority and the internal auditing standards in this regard are the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

2.2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Statement on the Role 
of the Head of Internal Audit confirms that this person is responsible for the organisations 
internal audit service, including drawing up the internal audit strategy and annual plan and 
giving the annual audit opinion. The requirements of this statement are fully adhered to by 
the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

2.3 Responsibility

2.3.1 The responsibility for maintaining an effective internal audit to evaluate risk management, 
control and governance processes lies with each Authority’s Chief Finance Officer (Section 
151 Officer).

2.3.2 The Authority and it Members must be satisfied about the adequacy of the advice and 
support it receives from internal audit.

2.3.3 Internal audit is provided by Eastern Internal Audit Services, with the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager responsible for ensuring the internal audit activity is undertaken in 
accordance with the definition of internal auditing, the code of ethics and the standards.

2.3.4 Senior management are responsible for ensuring that internal control, risk management and 
governance arrangements are sufficient to address the risks facing the Authority. 
Accountability for responding to internal audit rests with senior management who either 
accept and implement the recommendations, or formally reject it. Any advice that is rejected 
will be formally reported. 

3. Key Relationships and Position in the Organisation

3.1 The PSIAS require the terms ‘Chief Audit Executive’, ‘Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ to be 
defined in the context of the governance arrangements in each public sector organisation in 
order to safeguard the independence and objectivity of internal audit. The following 
interpretations are applied within Eastern Internal Audit Services.

3.2 Chief Audit Executive

3.2.1 The Chief Audit Executive is the Internal Audit Consortium Manager who provides the role of 
the Head of Internal Audit to all organisations part of the Eastern Internal Audit Services. The 
delivery of the annual internal audit plan, and any ad-hoc assignments is provided by an 
external contractor; TIAA Ltd since 1 April 2015.

3.2.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager reports functionally to the Board and administratively 
to the Director of Business Development at South Norfolk Council. In addition the Internal 
Audit Consortium Manager also reports administratively to the Section 151 Officer at each 
organisation. 

3.2.3 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager also has a direct line of reporting and unfettered 
access to the Chief Executive, the Senior Management Team at each Authority and the 

Page 70



Page 7 of 22

Chair of the Governance and Audit Committee at South Holland DC and the Chair of the 
Audit Committee at Breckland DC.

3.3 Board

3.3.1 The ‘Board’ is the governance group charged with independent assurance on the adequacy 
of the risk management framework, the internal control environment and the integrity of the 
financial reporting. At South Holland DC this is the Governance and Audit Committee and at 
Breckland DC this is the Audit Committee (here after referred to as the Committee), whose 
responsibilities are discharged through the Constitution and explicitly referred to in the terms 
of reference.

3.3.2 This functional reporting includes; 
 Approving the audit charter, audit strategy and annual plans;
 Receiving regular reports on the outcomes of internal audit activity and performance;
 Receiving regular reports on management action in relation to agreed internal audit 

recommendations;
 Receiving the Annual Report and Opinion of the Internal Audit Consortium Manager, 

alongside a conclusion as to the effectiveness of internal audit;

3.3.3 In addition the Committee assesses its own effectiveness on an annual basis to ensure it 
meets best practice, receives reports in relation to relevant Policy / Strategy updates i.e. 
Fraud and will, in the future, receive and oversee the results of external assessments of 
internal audit.

3.4 Senior Management

3.4.1 ‘Senior Management’ is those responsible for the leadership and direction of the 
organisation, and are responsible for specific aspects of internal control, risk management 
and governance arrangements. There is effective liaison between internal audit and senior 
management to ensure that independence remains, and provides for a critical challenge. 

3.4.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager meets regularly with the Section 151 Officer, both 
formally and informally, to ensure organisational awareness is maintained and that good 
working relationships are in place. The formal arrangements facilitate discussion in relation 
to the delivery of the current internal audit plan to ensure it remains on track and is 
responsive to changes and emerging risks. The meeting also highlights any areas which 
require immediate attention, that are not in the current annual plan, and also areas for future 
consideration. In addition the Internal Audit Consortium Manager also meets regularly with 
the Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager to keep up to date with key risks and 
also progress in relation to the Transformation Programme, this relationship is key to 
ensuring that the risk based audit plan is focussing on the right areas. 

3.4.3 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager meets with officers of the senior management team 
through the annual audit planning process to enable a risk based internal audit plan. These 
relationships are maintained throughout the year to ensure awareness of developments 
within service areas, to keep up to date, and to ensure internal audit involvement where 
necessary. These are key relationships to the effective delivery of internal audit and to 
ensure a value-added service is provided.

3.5 Other key relationships

3.5.1 There are other key relationships that are maintained which are important to the effective 
and efficient delivery of internal audit. 

Page 71



Page 8 of 22

3.5.2 Regular liaison is maintained with External Audit to consult on audit plans, and to discuss 
matters of mutual interest. The external auditors have the opportunity to take account of the 
work of internal audit where appropriate. 

3.5.3 Where appropriate internal audit will liaise with other internal audit providers, where shared 
arrangements exist. In such cases, a dialogue will be opened with the Chief Audit Executive 
to agree a way forward regarding the auditing of such shared services. This is to ensure an 
efficient and effective approach, and enable reliance on each other’s outcomes.  Where 
formal arrangements are entered into a protocol will be determined and agreed by both Chief 
Audit Executives.

3.5.4 At South Holland DC Compass Point provide back office services; finance, human resources 
& payroll, ICT, customer services and revenues & benefits to both South Holland and East 
Lindsey DC’s. This area has been previously audited by the East Lindsey DC internal audit 
team for both Councils and it is envisaged that this arrangement will continue. A draft 
protocol has been agreed between both Heads of Internal Audit, thus enabling South 
Holland DC to place reliance on this work to inform the Annual Report and Opinion. 

3.5.5 At Breckland DC a protocol is in place with West Suffolk Internal Audit Services where 
reliance is placed on the audits undertaken by the team in relation to Council Tax, National 
Non-Domestic Rates and Housing Benefits. The protocol has been in place since the 
2012/13 financial year, and has recently been extended for a year until 31 March 2017. In 
2016 the relevant Heads of Internal Audit for the respective Council’s whose Revenues and 
Benefits services are provided by Anglian Revenues Partnership (ARP) will be reviewing the 
arrangement for internal audit going forwards. 

3.5.6 Internal audit will also co-operate with all external review and inspection bodies that are 
authorised to access and evaluate the activities of the Authority, to determine compliance 
with regulations and standards. Assurances arising from this work will be taken into account 
where applicable.

4. Rights of Access

4.1 Internal audit, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and 
information, is authorised to have the right of access to all records, assets, personnel and 
premises and has authority to obtain such information and explanations as it considers 
necessary to fulfil its responsibilities. This access is full, free and unrestricted and is set out 
in each Authority’s Constitution.

4.2 Such access shall be granted on demand and shall not be subject to prior notice, although in 
principle, the provision of prior notice will be given wherever possible and appropriate, 
unless circumstances dictate otherwise.

5. Objective and Scope

5.1 Assurance services is the primary role of internal audit services, which primarily feeds into 
the annual audit opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control, together with reasons if the opinion is 
unfavourable. This opinion covers the entire control environment of the Authority and not just 
the financial controls. 

5.2 Internal audit also provides consultancy services, where required, which is advisory in nature 
and generally performed to facilitate improved governance, risk management and control.

Page 72



Page 9 of 22

5.3 It is management’s responsibility to manage the risk of fraud and corruption; however 
internal audit will be alert to such risks in all the work that is undertaken. In addition the 
Internal Audit Consortium Manager is consulted on related policy / strategy. These include 
for example; Counter Fraud, Corruption and Bribery Strategy, Whistleblowing Policy and 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy.

5.4 Through the contract in place with TIAA Ltd there are other services that can be provided, 
these include: fraud investigations, grant certification and digital forensics.

5.5 Whichever role / remit is carried out by internal audit the scope is to be determined by 
internal audit, through discussion with senior management, however this scope will not be 
unduly bias nor shall it be restricted.

6. Independence, Objectivity and Due Professional Care

6.1 Internal audit must be sufficiently independent of the activities that are audited to enable an 
impartial, unbiased and effective professional judgement. Internal auditors must maintain an 
unbiased attitude that allows work to be performed in such a manner that no quality 
compromises are made. To this end all internal auditors working within Eastern Internal 
Audit Services, annually review and sign up to the Code of Ethics, which sets out the 
minimum standards for performance and conduct. The four core principles are integrity, 
objectivity, confidentiality and competency.

6.2 Internal auditors have no operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities 
which they are required to review. In addition, internal auditors will not review operations for 
which they were previously responsible for in the preceding 12 months. Internal auditors may 
provide consulting services relating to such operations.

6.3 If independence or objectivity is impaired, or appears to be, the details of the impairment will 
be disclosed to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager and / or senior management. The 
nature of the disclosure will depend upon the impairment.

6.4 Internal auditors will perform work with due professional care, competence and diligence. 
Internal auditors cannot be expected to identify every control weakness or irregularity but 
their work is designed to enable them to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
controls examined. 

7. Resourcing

7.1 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or 
equivalent) and have a wide range of internal audit management experience to enable them 
to deliver the responsibilities that arise from the need to liaised internally and externally with 
councillors, senior management, officers and other professionals.

7.2 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager, through the contract with the external provider, shall 
ensure access to a team of staff who have the appropriate range of knowledge, skills, 
qualification and experience to deliver the audit service. The types of reviews are referred to 
in section 5 of the charter.

8. Audit Planning

8.1 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager develops a strategy, alongside a strategic and 
annual internal audit plan, using a risk based approach. 

Page 73



Page 10 of 22

8.2 The Internal Audit Strategy is a high level statement of; how the internal audit service will be 
delivered; how internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 
charter; how internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities; and 
how the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed. The purpose of the 
strategy is to provide a clear direction for internal audit services and creates a link between 
the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

8.3 On an annual basis the internal audit plan of work, developed as per the Internal Audit 
Strategy, is submitted to senior management and the Committee for approval. The Internal 
Audit Consortium Manager is responsible for the delivery of the internal audit plan, which will 
be kept under regular review and reported through to the Committees.

9. Audit Reporting

9.1 As mentioned at section 8 the resultant internal audit plans will be received on an annual 
basis for approval by both senior management and the relevant Committee.

9.2 On conclusion of each assurance review a draft audit report will be provided to management 
that;

 Provides an assurance opinion on the systems and controls in place as to whether 
these are operating adequately, effectively and efficiently. These reports contribute to 
the annual report and opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control.

 Provides a formal report of points arising from the review and management 
responses to the issues raised, this includes; acceptance (or not) of the 
recommendation, with responsibility and timescales for implementation.

 Provides Operational Efficiency Matters (as appropriate) which sets out matters 
identified during the assignment where there may be opportunities for service 
enhancements to be made to increase both the operational efficiency and enhance 
the delivery of value for money services.

On receipt of responses from management the report can then be finalised, post review by 
the Internal Audit Consortium Manager.

9.3 As mentioned in 9.2, management can choose not to accept / implement the 
recommendations raised by internal audit. In all such instances this will be reported through 
to the relevant Committee, especially in instances whereby there are no compensating 
controls justifying the course of action. 

9.4 The Executive Summary of all final reports is reported through periodically to the Committee 
as part of the progress reports. The PSIAS require this to report on the performance of 
internal audit relative to its plan, including any significant risk exposures and control issues. 
To comply this report includes:; any significant changes to the approved Audit Plan; progress 
made  in delivering the agreed audits for the year; any significant outcomes arising from 
those audits; and performance Indicator outcomes to date.

9.5 Where management agree to recommendations resulting in an action plan, these are 
regularly followed up to assess progress on implementation. The internal audit contractor 
undertakes verification work on closed recommendations, and also receives response from 
management in relation to progress made. The results of which are reported periodically to 
the Committee as part of the follow up reports.

9.6 On conclusion of the annual internal audit plan for the financial year the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager provides an annual report and opinion to senior management and the 
Committee.

Page 74



Page 11 of 22

9.7 The annual report and opinion provides:
 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s framework 

of governance, risk management and control during the financial year, together with 
reasons if the opinion is unfavourable;

 A summary of the internal audit work carried from which the opinion is derived, the 
follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed action as 
at financial year end and any reliance placed upon third party assurances;

 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS);and

 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes; the level of 
compliance with the PSIAS and the results of any quality assurance and 
improvement programme, the outcomes of the performance indicators and the 
degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal 
Audit.

10. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme

10.1 The PSIAS require a quality assurance and improvement programme to be developed that 
covers all aspects of internal audit; including both internal and external assessments. 

10.2 If an improvement plan is required as a result of the internal and / or the external 
assessment, in order to further develop the existing service provisions, the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager will coordinate appropriate action and report against this. 

10.3 On an annual basis the quality assurance and improvement programme, and any resulting 
improvement plan will be reported to senior management and the Committee, as part of the 
annual report and opinion. 

10.4 Internal Assessment

10.4.1 Internal assessment includes the ongoing monitoring of the performance of the contractor 
through the performance measures which form a key part of the contract and through the 
quality review of all completed audits, both of which is undertaken by the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager. 

10.4.2 On conclusion of audit reviews a feedback form is provided to the key client on the audit 
process; the outcomes of which are reviewed to look to improve the service and any criticism 
received is investigated immediately and action take with the contractor to resolve the issue.

10.4.3 The PSIAS also require periodic self-assessment in relation to the effectiveness of internal 
audit, the detail and outcomes of which are then forwarded to the Section 151 Officer for 
their independent scrutiny, before the summary of which is provided to the Committee as 
part of the annual report and opinion. This information enables the Committee to be assured 
that the internal audit service is operating in accordance with best practice.

10.5 External Assessment

10.5.1 External assessments must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the Authority. This can be in the 
form of a full external quality assessment that involves interviews with relevant stakeholders, 
supported by examination of the internal audit approach and methodology leading to the 
completion of an independent report, or a validated self-assessment, which the Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager compiles against the PSIAS assessment tool, which is then validated 
by an external assessor / team.

Page 75



Page 12 of 22

10.5.2 An external assessment will:
 Provide an assessment on the internal audit function’s conformance to the PSIAS;
 Assess the performance of the internal audit activity in light of its charters, the 

expectations of the various boards and executive management;
 Identify opportunities and offer ideas and counsel for improving the performance of 

the internal audit activity, raising the value that internal audit provides to the 
organisation; and 

 Benchmark the activities of the internal audit function against best practice.

10.5.3 The Internal Audit Consortium Manager will agree with the Section 151 Officer and the 
Committee the approach to be taken and the qualifications and independence of the external 
assessor / team, including any potential conflict of interest.

Page 76



Page 13 of 22

APPENDIX 2 – INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY

EASTERN INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES
BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCILS

INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY FOR 2016/17

1. Introduction

1.1 The Internal Audit Strategy is a high level statement of;
 how the internal audit service will be delivered;
 how internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 

charter;
 how internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities; and
 how the internal audit resource requirements have been assessed.

The provision of such a strategy is set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS).

1.2 The purpose of the strategy is to provide a clear direction for internal audit services and 
creates a link between the Charter, the strategic plan and the annual plan.

2. How the internal audit service will be delivered

2.1 The Role of the Head of Internal Audit and contract management is provided by South 
Norfolk Council (the Internal Audit Consortium Manager) to; Breckland, Broadland, North 
Norfolk, South Norfolk District Councils, Great Yarmouth Borough Council and The Broads 
Authority, and from 1 April 2016 South Holland District Council. All Authorities are bound by 
a Partnership Agreement.

2.2 The delivery of the internal audit plans for each Authority is provided by an external audit 
contractor, who reports directly to the Internal Audit Consortium Manager. The current 
contract is with TIAA Ltd, and commenced on 1 April 2015, for an initial period of 5 years.

3. How internal audit services will be developed in accordance with the internal audit 
charter

3.1 Internal Audit objective and outcomes

3.1.1 Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add 
value and improve the Authority’s operations. It helps the Authority accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control and governance processes.

3.1.2 The outcomes of the internal audit service are detailed in the Internal Audit Charter and can 
be summarised as; delivering a risk based audit plan in a professional, independent manner, 
to provide the Authority with an opinion on the level of assurance it can place upon the 

Page 77



Page 14 of 22

internal control environment, systems of risk management and corporate governance 
arrangements, and to make recommendations to improve these provisions, where further 
development would be beneficial.

3.1.3 The reporting of the outcomes from internal audit is through direct reports to senior 
management in respect of the areas reviewed under their remit, in the form of an audit 
report. The Audit Committee at Breckland DC (from 2016/17 the Governance and Audit 
Committee at South Holland DC) and the Section 151 Officer also receive:

 The Audit Plans Report, which is risk based and forms the next financial year’s plan 
of work;

 The Progress Reports which provide summaries of the work achieved throughout the 
year and the individual opinions awarded on conclusion of reviews;

 The Follow Up Reports which detail the level of management action taken in respect 
of agreed internal audit recommendations; and

 The Annual Report and Opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.2 Internal Audit Planning

3.2.1 A risk-based internal audit plan (RBIA) is established in consultation with senior 
management that identifies where assurance and consultancy is required.

3.2.2 The audit plan establishes a link between the proposed audit areas and the priorities and 
risks of the Authority taking into account:

 Stakeholder expectations, and feedback from senior and operational managers;
 Objectives set in the strategic plan and business plans;
 Risk maturity in the organisation to provide an indication of the reliability of risk 

registers;
 Management’s identification and response to risk, including risk mitigation strategies 

and levels of residual risk;
 Legal and regulatory requirements;
 The audit universe – all the audits that could be performed; and
 Previous IA plans and the results of audit engagements.

3.2.3 In order to ensure that the internal audit service adds value to the Authority, assurance 
should be provided that major business risks are being managed appropriately, along with 
providing assurance over the system of internal control, risk management and governance 
processes.

3.2.4 Risk based internal audit planning ensures that the Internal Audit Service adds value to the 
Council by providing assurance that major business risks are being managed appropriately, 
along with providing assurance over the system of internal control, risk management and 
governance processes.

3.2.5 The approach ensures; better and earlier identification of risks and increased ability to 
control them; greater coherence with the Authority’s priorities; an opportunity to engage with 
stakeholders; the Committee and Senior Management better understand how the internal 
audit service helps to accomplish its objectives; and this ensures that best practice is 
followed.

3.2.6 The advantages of a true risk based approach include:
 Better and earlier identification of risks and increased ability to control them;
 Greater coherence with the Council’s priorities;
 An opportunity to engage with stakeholders across the Council;

Page 78



Page 15 of 22

 The Committee and Senior Management better understand how the Internal Audit 
Service helps the Council accomplish its objectives; and

 Ensures that best practice is followed.

3.2.7 The key distinction with establishing plans derived from a risk based internal audit approach 
is that the focus should be to understand and analyse management’s assessment of risk and 
to base audit plans and efforts around that process.

3.2.8 Consultation with the Section 151 Officer and senior manager’s takes place through specific 
meetings during which current and future developments, changes, risks and areas of 
concerns are discussed and the plan developed accordingly to take these into account. 

3.2.9 In addition at South Holland DC there is liaison with the Internal Audit Manager to ensure 
that the coverage over the systems provided by Compass Point is agreed, and where 
possible joint audits will be undertaken.

3.2.10 The outcome of this populates a strategic internal audit plan, and the resulting annual 
internal audit plan, which are discussed with and approved by Executive Management Team 
prior to these being brought to the Audit Committee at Breckland DC, and the Governance 
and Audit Committee at South Holland DC. In addition External Audit is also provided with 
early sight of the plans.

3.3 Internal Audit Annual Opinion

3.3.1 The annual opinion provides senior management and the Committee with an assessment of 
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s framework of governance, risk 
management and control.

3.3.2 The opinion is based upon:
 The summary of the internal audit work carried out;
 The follow up of management action taken to ensure implementation of agreed 

action as at financial year end;
 Any reliance placed upon third party assurances;
 Any issues that are deemed particularly relevant to the Annual Governance 

Statement (AGS);
 The Annual Review of the Effectiveness of Internal Audit, which includes; the level of 

compliance with the PSIAS and the results of any quality assurance and 
improvement programme, the outcomes of the performance indicators and the 
degree of compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal 
Audit.

3.3.3 In order to achieve the above internal audit operates within the PSIAS and uses a risk based 
approach to audit planning and to each audit assignment undertaken. The control 
environment for each audit area reviewed is assessed for its adequacy and effectiveness of 
the controls and an assurance rating applied.

4. How internal audit services links to the organisational objectives and priorities

4.1 In addition to the approach taken as outlined in section 3 (Internal Audit Planning), which 
ensures that the service links to the organisations objectives and priorities and thereby 
through the risk based approach adds value, internal audit also ensure an awareness is 
maintained of local and national Issues and risks.

Page 79



Page 16 of 22

4.2 The annual audit planning process ensures that new or emerging risks are identified and 
considered at a local level. This strategy ensures that the planning process is all 
encompassing and reviews the records held by the Authority in respect of risks and issue 
logs and registers, reports that are taken through the Authority Committee meetings, and 
through extensive discussions with senior management.

4.3 Awareness of national issues is maintained through the contract in place with the external 
internal audit provider through regular “horizon scanning” updates, and annually a particular 
focus provided on issues to be considered during the planning process. Membership and 
subscription to professional bodies such as the Institute of Internal Auditors and the CIPFA 
on-line query service, liaison with External Audit, and networking with colleagues through the 
Norfolk Chief Internal Auditors Group, all help to ensure developments are noted and 
incorporated where appropriate.

5. How internal audit resource requirements have been assessed

5.1 Through utilising an external audit contractor the risk based internal audit plan can be 
developed without having to take into account the existing resources, as you would with an 
in-house team, thus ensuring that audit coverage for the year is appropriate to the 
Authority’s needs and not tied to a particular resource.

5.2 That said a core team of staff is provided to deliver the audit plan, and these staff bring with 
them considerable public sector knowledge and experience. These core staff can be 
supplemented with additional staff should the audit plan require it, and in addition specialists, 
e.g. computer auditors, contract auditor, fraud specialists, can be drafted in to assist in 
completing the internal audit plan and focusing on particular areas of specialism.

5.3 All audit professionals are encouraged to continually develop their skills and knowledge 
through various training routes; formal courses of study, in-house training, seminars and 
webinars. As part of the contract with TIAA Ltd the contractor needs to ensure that each 
member of staff completes a day’s training per quarter.

5.4 In addition resource is also provided by East Lindsey DC to undertake the audits of 
Compass Point services and these resources are agreed for the year ahead, thus ensuring 
that appropriate resource can be made available at the right time and at the right level.

Page 80



Page 17 of 22

APPENDIX 3 – STRATEGIC INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN

South Holland District Council

Audit Area Last reviewed & assurance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Corporate Governance Not a specific review area 
previously - covered in multiple 
audits

4 4 4

Risk Management 2013/14 - Substantial 3 3 3
Compass Point - Governance 2014/15 - Some Improvement 

needed
10

Transformation Programme - benefits realisation Management request 6 6 6

Housing Rents / Management 2015/16 - Substantial 12

Strategic Housing Not recently reviewed 10
Economic Development Not recently reviewed 8
Licensing and Business Support Not recently reviewed 5
Corporate Health and Safety 2014/15 - Some Improvement 

needed
3

Environmental Protection Not recently reviewed 8
Food, Health & Safety Not recently reviewed 8

Legal Services Not recently reviewed 5
Democratic Services Not recently reviewed 5
Elections and Electoral Registration Not recently reviewed 10
Corporate Performance and Corporate Plan 2015/16 - audit due 7
Procurement and Contract Management 2013/14 - Limited 8
Customer Services Management request 4
Branding Management request 3

Housing needs, allocation, homelessness, housing 
register and PSH

2012/13 - Homelessness - 
Substantial

10

Planned maintenance, major contracts and property 
services
Responsive repairs, voids and recharges

2014/15 Gas Servicing & Voids - 
Some Improvement Needed
2015/16 Planned Maintenance - 
Substantial

10 15

Community development and safety 2013/14 - Substantial 8
Leisure 2013/14 - Health Initiatives - 

Limited
5

South Holland Centre Management request 7
Ascoughfee Management request 7
Planning - development control, enforcement, s106 
agreements, land charges

2012/13 - substantial 16

Building Control 2012/13 - substantial 8
Environmental Services - waste, recycling and 
depot services

Not recently reviewed 16

Annual Opinion / Governance audits

Fundamental Financial Systems (see ELDC)

Directorate audits
Executive Director Commercialisation

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

Executive Director Place

Page 81



Page 18 of 22

IT audits to be confirmed 20 20 20

All previous audits SHDC 12 12 12
Total number of days delivered by EIAS 95 140 108

Key Controls and Assurance 20 20 20
Review of Finance Team - accountancy services, 
payables, receivables, income, payroll & human 
resources, council tax, national non-domestic rates 
and benefits

Various assurances* 20 20 20

HB Subsidy Testing 25 25 25
Days provided by other Internal Audit Services 65 65 65

Total Internal Audit provision 160 205 173

ICT Audits

Follow Up of audit recommendations

Compass Points Audits delivered by East Lindsey District Council

* assurance opinions for finance audits:
Accountancy Services

Accounts Payable
Accounts Receivable
Income
Payroll and Human Resources

Council Tax
National Non-Domestic Rates
Benefits 2014/15 - Major improvement needed

2014/15 - Some improvement needed

2014/15 - Some improvement needed
2014/15 - Some improvement needed
2014/15 - Payroll -  Some improvement needed
2013/14 - HR Strategy - Substantial
2014/15 - Some improvement needed

2014/15 - Bank Rec - Some improvement needed
2014/15 - Assets - Some improvement needed
2013/14 - Treasury Management - Full
2012/13 - General Ledger - Substantial
2014/15 - Major improvement needed

Page 82



Page 19 of 22

APPENDIX 4 – ANNUAL INTENAL AUDIT PLAN

Audit Area No of 
days

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TBC Notes 

Corporate Governance 4 4 Exact coverage determined annually in conjunction with 
the monitoring officer (or deputy).

Risk Management 3 3 Joint audit review will focus on the use of covalent, the 
role of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board and the 
information reported to the Governance and Audit 
Committee.

Transformation Programme - benefits realisation 6 6 Internal Audit involvement over the financial year as a 
critical friend, to ensure appropriate challenge is 
provided, in relation to benefits proposed, i.e. cashable 
savings, improved performance, resilience, customer 
focus, quality etc.

Strategic Housing 10 10 Confirmation of process at SHDC in relation to 
Affordable Housing (3 days).
Possible review of Welland Homes once management 
review complete (7 days).

Licensing and Business Support 5 5 Joint audit review will focus on the efficiency of the 
working practices, how fees are determined & set, cross 
agency working for example taxi licenses and also the 
role of the team in relation to counterfeit goods.

Corporate Health and Safety 3 3 Joint audit  to review processes for ensuring health and 
safety across both sites and the role and remit of the 
joint committee.

Branding 3 3 This joint audit will focus on brand guidelines - are these 
fit for purpose, are these followed, are the 
communications team involved, and brands signed off 
and are the correct brands used.

Annual Opinion / Governance audits

Directorate audits
Executive Director Commercialisation

Executive Director Strategy and Governance

P
age 83



Page 20 of 22

Planned maintenance, major contracts and 
property services
Responsive repairs, voids and recharges

10 10 A review of the CSU has recently been carried on the 
instruction of the EMT.  This was not a formal audit and 
was a discreet piece of work undertaken outside of the 
work programme.  There is provision within the work 
programme to audit CSU and this will be timetabled to 
audit any changes/improvements that were instigated 
following the recent review. 

Leisure 5 5 A task and finish group is being set up to look at 
options for leisure provision, Internal Audit will provide a 
critical friend role in ascertaining the future leisure 
provision for the District.

South Holland Centre 7 7 The audit will validate the data within the financial ledger 
and also provide assurance over such data i.e. integrity 
of, it will also focus on coding of data to ensure a 
transparent picture is portrayed of the cost of the 
service. 

Ascoughfee 7 7 The audit will validate the data within the financial ledger 
and also provide assurance over such data i.e. integrity 
of, it will also focus on coding of data to ensure a 
transparent picture is portrayed of the cost of the 
service.

IT audits to be confirmed 20 20 Risk based approach to IT audits to be discussed with 
IT Manager.

All previous audits 12 3 3 3 3 Bi-monthly follow up of recommendations and evidence 
Total number of days delivered by EIAS 95 16 20 8 10 41

Follow Up of audit recommendations

Executive Director Place

ICT Audits

P
age 84



Page 21 of 22

Key Controls and Assurance 20 20 Annual testing of key controls not subject to full review 
within the financial year. This year will include; general 
ledger maintenance, control accounts, asset register, 
treasury management, budgetary control, accounts 
receivable, income and the assurance framework.

Review of Finance Team - accountancy services, 
payables, receivables, income, payroll & human 
resources, council tax, business rates and benefits

20 20 Review this year will focus on Payroll and Accounts 
Payable, as agreed with the Head of Internal Audit at 
East Lindsey due to her knowledge of these systems.

HB Subsidy Testing 25 25 Approach as agreed with External Audit (KPMG)
Days provided by other Internal Audit Services 65 0 0 20 45 0

Total Internal Audit provision 160 16 20 28 55 41

Compass Points Audits delivered by East Lindsey District Council

P
age 85



Page 22 of 22

APPENDIX 5 – PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Area / Indicator Target
Audit Committee / Senior Management

1. Audit Committee Satisfaction – measured 
annually

2. Chief Finance Officer Satisfaction – 
measured quarterly

Adequate

Good

Internal Audit Process
3. Each quarters audits completed to draft 

report within 10 working days of the end 
of the quarter

4. Quarterly assurance reports to the 
Contract Manager within 15 working days 
of the end of each quarter

5. An audit file supporting each review and 
showing clear evidence of quality control 
review shall be completed prior to the 
issue of the draft report ( a sample of 
these will be subject to quality review by 
the Contract Manager)

6. Compliance with Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards

7. Respond to the Contract Manager within 
3 working days where unsatisfactory 
feedback has been received.

100%

100%

100%

Full

100%

Clients
8. Average feedback score received from 

key clients (auditees)
9. Percentage of recommendations 

accepted by management

Adequate

90%

Innovations and Capabilities
10. Percentage of qualified (including 

experienced) staff working on the 
contract each quarter

11. Number of training hours per member of 
staff completed per quarter

12. Number of high and medium priority 
recommendations made per quarter

13. Number of audits which are considered 
to add value 

60%

1 day

To decrease over the life of the contract (from 
year 2)
To increase over the life of the contact (from 
year 2)

 

Page 86



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)

To: Governance and Audit Committee 3 March 2016

(Author: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant)

Subject: Audit Mandatory Inquiries

Purpose: To confirm the response to the external audit mandatory inquiries

Recommendation:

1) To  approve the response to the external audit mandatory inquiries

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In order to comply with a number of International Standards of Auditing, external auditors 
are required to obtain an understanding on how those charged with governance exercise 
oversight of management’s processes in relation to fraud, laws and regulations and going 
concern. To assist this work, which forms part of the annual audit, the external auditor 
issues a number of questions to those charged with governance. This year’s focus is on 
fraud and significant unusual transactions.

1.2 Appendix A sets out the inquiries to those charged with governance. It has been pre-
populated to a large extent where possible following discussion with the Section 151 
Officer and Internal Audit. However one question on fraud asks for an opinion, therefore it 
would be inappropriate to pre-empt the Committee’s response.

1.3 Members are asked to consider these responses and to be satisfied that they correspond 
to the committee’s own view of affairs, or whether the responses require modification.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To approve the responses to the mandatory inquiries so that they can be issues to the 
external auditor.
 

2.2   To make amendments to the responses so that these can be issued to the external 
auditor.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is good practice for a collective view to be formed as this promotes good corporate 
governance arrangements.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 This demonstrates the role that the Governance and Audit Committee has at the centre of 
the Council’s governance arrangements. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8.



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee, through its terms of reference, helps to ensure 
that the service areas and risks reported are working towards the efficient and effective 
delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities.

5.2   Risk Management 

5.2.1 The Committee supports the oversight of the Council’s risk management framework, 
which will in turn ensure that the Council’s key risks are reviewed and addressed. This is 
ensured by following best practice and adopting sound terms of reference. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ken Trotter – Interim Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix  A Inquiries to those charged with governance.

Page 88



Page 1 of 3

Appendix A

Inquiries–Those Charged With Governance

Name of Interviewee(s) : Governance & Audit Committee

Name of KPMG Interviewer(s) : Audit Manager

Date(s) of Interview : 3 March 2016

Required Inquiries

Category Short 

Description

Detailed Description Comments (optional)

Page 89



Page 2 of 3

Category Short 

Description

Detailed Description Comments (optional)

Fraud REQUIRED 

Programs and 

controls to 

prevent, detect 

and deter fraud – 

oversight by 

those charged 

with governance 

How do those charged with governance exercise 

effective oversight of management's processes for 

identifying and responding to the risk of fraud in 

the entity and  internal controls management has 

established to mitigate these fraud risks?

The Governance and Audit 

Committee approves the Internal 

Audit programme on an annual basis 

and receives regular reports from the 

Head of Audit and Risk Management 

on progress against the plan as well 

as the outcomes from the audit 

reviews. The committee timetable 

schedules a report on fraudulent 

activity detected by the authority 

during the previous year which is 

presented to the 

committee.

Fraud REQUIRED 

Management's 

assessment of 

fraud risks 

including the 

nature, extent 

and frequency of 

such 

assessment

What are your views about fraud risks at the 

entity?

The Committee agreed that they did 

not have any great concerns, based 

on identified fraud, and that no trends 

had been identified. Procedures were 

felt to be fairly robust.  No large fraud 

risks had been identified by Internal 

Audit. The Auditors confirmed that 

Lincolnshire Counter Fraud 

Partnership is having a positive 

impact.  Improvement of processes 

was always being looked at and 

intelligence sharing with peers was 

encouraged.  The Chief Executive 

added that a robust Whistleblowing 

Policy was also a benefit to the 

Authority.

Page 90



Page 3 of 3

Category Short 

Description

Detailed Description Comments (optional)

Fraud REQUIRED 

Actual, 

suspected or 

alleged 

instances of 

fraud

Are you aware of or have you identified any 

instances of actual, suspected, or alleged fraud, 

including misconduct or unethical behavior related 

to financial reporting or misappropriation of 

assets? If so, have the instances been 

appropriately addressed and how have they been 

addressed?

No instances of actual, suspected, or 

alleged fraud in relation to financial 

reporting and misappropriation of 

assets were identified in the last 

financial year, although a fraud report 

is planned to be presented to 

committee in June which will update 

this situation.

Significant 

Unusual 

Transaction

REQUIRED

SUTs - existence

Has the entity entered into any significant unusual 

transactions?

None

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (s151 Officer)

To: Governance and Audit - 3 March 2016

Author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Strategy, Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy

Purpose: To consider the anti-fraud policy in relation to the Council Tax Support 
scheme.

Recommendation:
 
1) To consider the Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy and provide feedback if appropriate.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Council Tax Support replaced the national Council Tax Benefit system in April 2013 under 
the Welfare Reform Act 2012 and local authorities are required to have in place a locally 
determined scheme for working age residents.  

1.2   It is a legislative requirement that those who receive state pension  will continue to receive 
support under the Council Tax Support Scheme on the same terms  as would have 
applied under the old Council Tax Benefit scheme

 
1.3   Activities outlined in the policy are carried out in practice by trained and experienced 

Officers, with compliance to relevant legislation and governance. To ensure transparency, 
and to act as a deterrent, the process has been brought together in a Council Tax Support 
Anti-Fraud Policy, attached as Appendix A to this report.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To consider the Policy and make no comment.

2.2 To consider the Policy and make comments where applicable.

2.3 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Approval and publication of the policy will ensure the Council is transparent and pro-active 
in its approach to tackling Council Tax Support fraud. This could act as a deterrent to 
potential fraudsters.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Publicity of fraud prevention, deterrent and detection activities will help to reduce incidents 
of fraud in the local Council Tax Support system, whilst ensuring funding for CTS is 
maximised for genuine recipients.  

Page 93

Agenda Item 9.



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 All Officers engaged in fraud prevention, deterrent and detection activities are trained to 
comply with appropriate legislation, codes of practice and corporate policies.  These are 
listed in more detail in the policy at Appendix A. 

5.1.2 Authorised powers are set out in The Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud 
and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013 and in accordance with section 14A of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The adoption of the Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy would support council priorities 
in respect of crime prevention.

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

5.3.1 This policy outlines how the Council tackles fraud against its Council Tax Support 
scheme, and the approach to sanctions and prosecutions.   

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1 The Investigations team are trained to ensure that anyone suspected of fraud receives 
clear and understandable information in particular to ensure awareness of legal rights.

5.5 Financial 

5.5.1   From April 2013 funding and responsibility for Council Tax Support transferred to local 
government and is now administered as part of the collection fund arrangements.

5.5.2   The impact on council tax income based on the 31 January 2016 position is shown below

Number Amount of Council Tax 
Support (CTS)

Elderly 3,500 £2,729,521

Working Age 2,891 £1,662,487

Total 6,391 £4,392,008

5.5.3   The local council tax reduction scheme is to be examined in 2016/17 to further understand 
this position and any amendments will be incorporated into this policy as appropriate.

5.5.4   Transitional funding was introduced in 2013/14 for this activity and it was included in the 
Revenue support grant for that year at £397,000. At the same time the Business rates 
retention scheme was also introduced which is placing greater emphasis on local income 
generation.

5.5.5 In line with local authorities statutory duty to administer and arrange their financial affairs 
appropriately in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, this 
policy sets out the approach this Council takes to ensure an appropriate and effective anti-
fraud process is in place in relation to Council Tax Support.

Page 94



5.6 Reputation 

5.6.1 The adoption of a policy to support the practice and processes in place will demonstrate 
the Council commitment and approach to protect public funds in respect of Council Tax 
Support.

5.7  Staffing

5.7.1 Fraud investigation is carried out by appropriately trained and authorised personnel. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CTS – Council Tax Support

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: (1) Andy Eaman, Investigations Team Leader, (2) Ken Trotter, Interim 

Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: (1) 01775 764414 (2) 01775 764684 
Email: andy.eaman@cpbs.com  Ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy

Page 95

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:andy.eaman@cpbs.com
mailto:Ken.trotter@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council

Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud 
Policy

Page 97



2

Contents

Section 1 3

Background 3
Legislation and governance 3
Equalities impact 3

Section 2 3 - 5

What is Council Tax Support fraud? 3 - 4
Anti-fraud policy 4 - 5

Section 3 5

Authorised officers 5

Section 4 5 - 7

Sanctions and prosecutions 5
Appropriate enforcement action 5
Penalty as alternative to prosecution 5
Prosecution  6
The decision to prosecute  6
Evidential test  6
Public interest test 6 - 7

Appendix A - Flowchart 7

Page 98



3

Section 1

Background
This document describes the anti-fraud policy of the council in relation to the local 
Council Tax Support scheme. It is intended to inform staff and service users of the 
specific actions carried out by the Investigation Team in relation to Council Tax 
Support. 

Local authorities have a statutory duty to administer and arrange their financial affairs 
appropriately in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. It is 
therefore important that the council applies an appropriate and effective anti-fraud 
process as part of the administration of Council Tax Support.

The main objective in developing this policy is to prevent, detect, correct, punish and 
deter fraudulent activity in general and specifically in relation to Council Tax Support.

Legislation and governance
All officers are required to comply with appropriate legislation, codes of practice and 
corporate policies when executing duties in relation to fraud.

The codes, legislation and policies that are adhered to in order to succeed in 
executing the fraud policy include:

 Data Protection Act 1998
 Human Rights Act 2000
 Local Government Finance Act 1992
 Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) 

(England) Regulations 2013
 Welfare Reform Act 2012
 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
 Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Equalities impact
The Investigations Team will ensure that anyone suspected of fraud will receive clear 
and understandable correspondence making them aware of their legal rights and 
informing them of all the possible outcomes to an investigation. 

Section 2

What is Council Tax Support fraud?
For the purposes of this policy fraud is perceived to be:

 Knowingly or dishonestly making a false statement or representation with 
intent to gaining a financial advantage through Council Tax Support.

Or

 Knowingly or dishonestly failing to give prompt notice of a change of 
circumstances, with intent to gaining a financial advantage through Council 
Tax Support.

The Investigations Team will approach the investigation of both fraud and corruption 
in the same manner within the boundaries of their procedures and the constraints of 
appropriate legislation.

Page 99



4

Anti-fraud policy

The following measures are pursued in order to minimise the risk of fraud and to 
prevent, detect, punish and deter fraud in the South Holland District Council area.

Claim checking and verification of proofs
The Council maintains a consistent process of claim verification, and obtains original 
documentation when assessing Council Tax Support. Proof of identity is also 
obtained when the claimant first applies for assistance.

Investigations Team.
The Investigations Team, receives and investigates allegations of suspected Council 
Tax Support fraud in respect of the District.  The Council is committed to maintaining 
fraud staff levels and resources, which are proportionate and pertinent to local 
requirements.  

All Investigation Team members employed on this work are designated as 
‘Authorised officers’ by the Chief Executive under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013
This enables specific use of authorised Investigative powers within the parameters of 
the law. 

Training
All relevant frontline staff will be appropriately trained to detect irregularities and 
possible fraud with respect to claims for Council Tax Support. 

Information Sharing
By law, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her Majesty’s Revenue 
and Customs (HMRC) will be able to share their information with local authorities in 
order to corroborate the personal and financial circumstances of an applicant in 
relation to Council Tax Support.

Fraud hotline
The Council publicises and promotes the use of a dedicated fraud hotline to assist 
members of the public in reporting potentially fraudulent activity in Council Tax 
Support claims. The telephone number is 0800 002 008 and connects directly with 
the Investigations Team. 

From 1 October 2014 the responsibility for Housing Benefit Fraud investigation was 
transferred to the Department for Work and Pensions as part of the national 
implementation of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

Fraud referrals relating to Housing Benefit, DWP benefits and Tax Credits should be 
made directly to the National Benefit Fraud Hotline on  0800 854 440. 

Duty to report
Council employees have a duty to report any suspected fraud concerning council 
business. If an employee has any concerns regarding entitlement to Council Tax 
Support, it must be reported immediately to the Investigations Team.

Communication
All claimants are provided with documentation written in plain English wherever 
possible. In addition, information will be written in a clear and understandable format 
to ensure that claimants are aware of their responsibilities to provide accurate and 
timely information, in relation to their current circumstances and changes of 
circumstances. 

Page 100



5

Publicity
The Council will publicise the results of individual cases, which have resulted in a 
conviction in the criminal courts. 

Section 3

Authorised officers
The Council appoints officers who are authorised to obtain specific information in 
relation to Council Tax Support investigations. Authorised powers are set out in The 
Council Tax Reduction scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2013 in accordance with section 14A of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992.

Directed surveillance
Investigations Team members are trained to execute appropriate and proportionate 
use of directed surveillance in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000.

Section 4

Sanctions and prosecutions
The Investigations Team Leader will give careful consideration to taking further 
action against anyone who has committed fraud in order to obtain Council Tax 
Support. The details of each fraud case will be taken into account and measured 
against the evidential and public interest test stated in the Code for Crown 
Prosecutors. 

Appropriate enforcement action
In all cases investigated the Compliance Officer will supply an investigation report to 
the Investigations Team Leader showing the officer’s actions, conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the investigation. The Investigations Team Leader will 
then make the final decision as to whether it is appropriate and proportionate to take 
further enforcement action against the person or persons subject to investigation. 

Penalty as alternative to prosecution
The legislation governing the use of a financial penalty as an alternative to 
prosecution where a person has fraudulently claimed Council Tax Support is 
contained in section 14C of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The conditions 
by which a penalty might be used are described in regulation 11 of the Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 
2013.

Penalties may be offered as an alternative to prosecution when a fraudulent claim 
has caused excess Council Tax Support to be awarded or could have caused excess 
Council Tax Support being awarded.

In accordance with the legislation a penalty offered as an alternative to prosecution 
will be a minimum of £100 or 50% of the fraudulent excess Council Tax Support 
claimed by the offender (rounded down to the nearest penny) whichever figure is 
greater. A penalty should not exceed £1000.00. A person does not have to accept 
the penalty.

A fixed penalty of £70 can also be imposed in less serious cases in accordance with 
Regulation 13 of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and 
Enforcement)(England) Regulations 2013.

Page 101



6

Prosecution
Prosecutions relating to this policy will be pursued by the council. Prosecution will be 
considered against someone who has committed an offence in order to receive 
Council Tax Support.

The decision to prosecute
When a Compliance officer has established an offence relating to Council Tax 
Support the investigation file will be passed to the Investigations Team Leader. A 
report will be contained in the file showing the officer’s conclusions and 
recommendations regarding the investigation. The Investigations Team Leader will 
make the final decision with respect to appropriate enforcement action. As part of the 
fraud process the Investigations Team Leader will refer to The Code for Crown 
Prosecutors as a guide to establishing the value of prosecuting offenders by referring 
to the evidential and public interest tests.

Evidential test
In making a decision to prosecute, the local authority must be satisfied that there is 
enough evidence to provide a ‘realistic prospect of conviction’. A realistic prospect of 
conviction is an objective test meaning that a jury, magistrate or judge hearing a case 
which, is properly directed in accordance with the law, is more likely than not to 
convict the defendant of the alleged offence. 

Public interest test
The Investigations Team Leader will always consider public interest judiciously and 
will balance the factors for and against prosecution objectively.
In making the decision whether it is in the public interest to prosecute, the following 
factors will be considered:

Some common public interest factors in favour of prosecution
 the seriousness of the offence;
 a conviction is likely to result in a substantial sentence;
 the claimant was in a position of authority or trust;
 there is evidence that the offence was premeditated, e.g. the Council Tax 

Support claim was false from its inception;
 there is evidence that the claimant  instigated and organised the fraud;
 there is previous incidence of fraud;
 there are grounds for believing that the alleged offence is likely to be 

continued or repeated, based on any history of recurring conduct;

Some common public interest factors against prosecution
 the court is likely to impose a nominal penalty;
 the offence was committed as a result of a genuine mistake or 

misunderstanding (factors balanced against the seriousness of the offence);
 the impact of any loss of funds can be described as minor and was the result 

of a single incident, particularly if it was the result of misjudgement;
 there have been long and avoidable delays between the offence taking place 

and the date of the trial, unless:
(i) The offence is serious
(ii) The delay is caused in part by the defendant
(iii) The offence has only recently come to light
(iv) The complexity of the offence has caused a long investigation;

 the defendant is elderly or is, or was at the time of the offence suffering from 
significant mental or physical illness, this is balanced against the seriousness 
and complexity of the offence

Page 102



7

 the defendant has put right the loss that was caused (though claimants must 
not avoid prosecution purely on the basis that they have cleared a debt or 
paid compensation);

 any voluntary disclosure;
 social factors such as domestic abuse, or substance abuse

The various reasons listed above both for and against prosecution are not 
exhaustive. The factors that apply will depend on the facts in each individual case.

Council Tax Support anti-fraud policy – process map

                                 

                                 

(B)
The customer is offered a 
fixed penalty of £70

©
The customer is prosecuted 

Sanction/penalty decision recommendation form referred to Investigation Team 
Leader for consideration.

Investigation completed into suspected fraud case.

Investigation Team Leader reviews the recommendation from Compliance 
Officer and considers each case for potential fraud action.

Is there sufficient evidence 
to prosecute Yes or No

(B)
The claimant is offered a 
fixed penalty of £70 in less 
serious cases.

(A)
The claimant is offered a 
financial penalty (50% of 
overpayment) as an 
alternative to prosecution.

No
Close file and recover the 

overpayment

(C)
The claimant is prosecuted 

Yes
Consider appropriate action 
in line with policy
(A), (B), (C) or (D)

(D)
The overpayment is 
recovered and no further 
action is taken

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 3 March 2016

Author: Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager

Subject: Quarterly Risk Report

Purpose: To inform the Committee on the current status of the Councils’ strategic 
risks

Recommendation: 

1)  That the contents of the report are noted.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1. The last risk report to the Governance and Audit Committee was in December 2015.  Since 
then, work has continued on configuring the new corporate performance and risk 
monitoring system, Covalent.  

1.2 This report is generated using the new system and includes updates on strategic risks for 
quarter 3, 2015/16. Changes have been made to the layout of the report including the 
addition of the original risk score and details of the controls/mitigation in place.

1.3 Strategic risks are captured on the Corporate Dashboard, reviewed by EMT quarterly.  In 
addition, risks are reviewed monthly at the officer-led Performance, Risk & Audit Board 
chaired by the Executive Director of Strategy and Governance.

1.4. Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with responsible members of the 
Executive Management Team (EMT).  The strategic risk register includes 12 strategic risks 
(see Appendix A).  These cover the over-arching risks that may affect the strategic direction 
of the council, rather than risks linked to business continuity or those that affect discreet 
service areas.

1.5 Following recent high profile media coverage regarding the ICT breach at Lincolnshire 
County Council, a strategic risk has been developed relating to the security of ICT at South 
Holland. The severity of an attack on the ICT, and the resulting shut down in order to avoid 
breaches of data, has meant that the risk is currently scored as a high risk after controls 
and mitigation. This will continue to be monitored.

1.6 Strategic risks typically affect the whole of the organisation and not just one or more parts 
of it. Strategic risks can potentially involve very high stakes and often affect the ability of the 
organisation to survive, e.g. impact on the ability of the Council to achieve its corporate plan 
objectives and purpose. Strategic risks are managed at Board (EMT) Level.  

1.7 The Risk Framework is currently under review, alongside the implementation of the new 
ICT system.  As part of the Risk Framework review, the procedure in which an operational 
risk becomes a strategic risk has been considered. It is recommended that operational risks 
continue to be monitored monthly as part of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board and 
where a risk remains at a score of 15 or above for a period of more than 1 quarter after 

Page 105

Agenda Item 10.



controls and mitigation have been put in place, this risk will then be considered a strategic 
risk and therefore be reported to this Committee.

1.8 As a result of the Risk Framework review the risk matrix has been changed from a 3 x 3 to 
a 5 x 5 matrix, based on best practice in comparable organisations.  This provides a more 
comprehensive assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix 
results in a numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the 
likelihood of it happening.

Unlikely
(1)

Possible 
(2)

Plausible 
(3)

Likely
(4)

Certain
(5)

Critical (5)

High (4)

Medium (3)

Low (2)

Minimal (1)

1.9 Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating

High
Medium
Low

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the contents of the report are noted.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
 
3.1 One of the roles of the Governance and Audit Committee is to monitor the effective 

development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in the Council.  
This report is providing information to assist in this role.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively.

Page 106



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution and Legal

5.1.1 The Council’s Constitution states that one of the roles of the Governance and Audit 
Committee is ‘to monitor the effective development and operation of risk 
management and corporate governance in the Council’.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the 
Council’s corporate priorities.

5.3 Financial

5.3.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council’s budgets           
           and financial management.

5.4 Risk Management

5.4.1 The report provides detail on the Council’s strategic risks.

5.5 Staffing

5.5.1 The report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the 
           Council’s corporate priorities 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities are affected

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson, Corporate Improvement and Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656866 
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A South Holland District Council Strategic Risk Register (January, 

Q3 2015/16)

Page 107



Page 108



SHDC Corporate Risk Report 
 

Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Critical
breach of ICT
security

Attacks are happening 
with increasing frequency
 at present. Ransom and
 theft specialists are 
targeting banking details 
and personal information,
 as with all other 
government systems and
 private companies 

25

Virus and intrusion
detecting software is
installed. Disaster
recovery processes and
emergency disconnect
plans between SHDC and
ELDC are in place. ICT
department seeking
delegated authority to
conduct shutdown
procedures without
consulting directors if n

20 5 4

Current defensive 
software is operating 
effectively and software 
providers sharing 
experience globally to 
counter new threats as 
they emerge but 
systems could be 
breached by something 
new (as with Lincs 
County). Should a 
breach occur, shutting 
down all systems is top 
priority as this prevents 
the malware infecting 
multiple machines or 
servers. ICT department 
is seeking authority to 
conduct emergency 
shutdown measures 
immediately on detection
 of a breach - without 
consulting directors if 
none are available. This 
would have an impact 
on all departments 
similar to an electricity 
blackout – unsaved data
 would be lost and 
systems would be 
inaccessible. However, 
isolation of the breach 
would allow a managed 
reactivation of unaffected
 systems and prevent 
the total loss of ICT for 
an extended period. 

P
age 109



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

CPBS Failure
to deliver core
services

CPBS Failure to deliver 
core services - 
HR/IT/Finance/Revenues
 & Benefits 

12

Number of Governance
processes in place
including monitoring of
performance in
performance, risk and
audit baord. CPBS also
has its own board with
governance.

12 4 3

Mitigation actions put in 
place to address issues 
relating to R&B by using
 shared learning with 
ARP to share new 
working practices 

Medium Term
Financial Plan
Not Delivered

 
The council's medium 
term financial strategy 
has identified a budget 
gap in the next 5 years, 
the transformation 
programme will need to 
make this level of saving 
for the organisation over 
that period to balance 
the budget. 

12

There are a number of
controls in place to track
delivery including
transformation board,
Performance, Risk & Audit
Board & Finance Board.
PI's are tracking variance
from plan

9 3 3

The situation has 
improved as we are 
allowing a longer time to
 achieve the plan and 
therefore likelihood of 
success if improved. 
Plan has now been 
agreed. 

Business rate
retention
scheme

Business rate retention 
scheme leaves the 
Council exposed to 
changes in the council 
tax base and collection 
performance. Loss of 
rates through refund if 
decision to re-rate power
 stations is upheld. 

20

Financial provision has
been made to cover the
risk of current appeals,
collection rates and
growth

9 3 3 There are no specific 
issues currently 

Impact of
County
Council
Budget
Reductions

Impact of County Council
 Budget Reductions - this
 will potentially impact on
 our ability to deliver 
Services. This will 
potentially impact on 
resident wellbeing. 

9

Ensure that Place
directorate are involved
early in conversations to
represent SHDC and its
residents

9 3 3

County council 
announcements and 
consultations are being 
regularly monitored for 
new developments 

P
age 110



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Impact of
devolution
agenda

Impact of devolution 
agenda in Lincolnshire 
causing pressure on 
Chief Executive's time to 
focus on Council's 
achievement of its 
Corporate Priorities - this
 is compounded by the 
risk of not being involved
 which could 
fundamentally lead to 
changes being forced 
upon South Holland 

12
A temporary resource has
been recruited to support
the Councils work on
Devolution

8 4 2

A recent consultation 
has recommended that 
Sunday trading rules be 
devolved to all district 
and unitary authorities, 
CIP team is monitoring 
developments. 

Failure to
deliver Local
Plan and its
Delivery Plan

Failure to deliver Local 
Plan and its Delivery 
Plan - reputational and 
financial risk due to 
possible Secretary of 
State intervention. there 
is also a new risk 
emerging due to New 
Homes Bonus. 

8
Dedicated senior officer
and EMT support to
deliver the local plan

8 4 2 There are no specific 
issues currently. 

Failure to
maximise
trading
opportunities

Failure to maximise 
trading opportunities 
could result in lack of 
commercial exploitation 
of assets or income from
 trading arms 

9

Governance is in place for
MTFP through
transformation board,
finance board and
Performance Risk and
Audit Board which monitor
the work towards
maximising trading
opportunities

6 3 2

Commercial strand of 
transformation under 
way, programme 
manager recruited, 
opportunities identified. 

Uncertainty
over future
government
funding
settlement

Government has 
indicated further cuts to 
public services, exact 
impact on the council as 
yet unknown 

12

4yr MTFP sets out
programme to be free of
reliance on RSG by 2019.
Finance board will
continue to monitor
acheivemnet towards plan

4 2 2

New financial plan being
 considered which 
reflects reduced 
dependency on 
government settlement 

Failure to
deliver the
council's
Corporate
Priorities

Would lead to missed 
targets and failure to 
deliver objectives and 
may result in the Council
 suffering reputational 
damage and a failure to 
deliver priorities to 
residents. 

4

Corporate Delivery Plan
sets out how to acheive
corporate plan and this is
under pinned by individual
service plans and these
are monitored at
Perfromance, Risk & Audit
Board monthly

4 2 2
The transformation 
programme provides 
mitigation against this 
risk 

P
age 111



Title Description Original Risk Score Controls/Mitigation Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Latest Note

Staff
recruitment
and retention
at all levels
within the
organisation

Staff recruitment and 
retention issues could 
undermine the 
effectiveness of the 
organisations though loss
 of experience and 
knowledge 

15
A people plan is being
developed to address
recruitment, skills and
retention

4 2 2 There are no specific 
issues currently. 

Failure to
effectively
implement
corporate
business
continuity
plan

Failure could lead to an 
impact on delivery of 
services, loss of IT 
systems, ineffective 
communication, a failure 
to provide suitable 
premises or a failure to 
provide suitable premises
 

4

Working jointly with
County to have business
continuity post. Each team
has a plan reviewed
annually

3 3 1

The council's business 
continuity plans and risk 
mitigations are being 
regularly reviewed. 
Coordination 
arrangements with other 
authorities are in place. 

 P
age 112



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 3 March 2016

(Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer)

Subject: Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Governance and Audit Committee

Recommendation: 

That the Committee gives consideration to the contents of this report and identifies any issues for 
discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee regularly considers a variety of reports from Internal 
Audit, External Audit and the Section 151 Officer.

1.2 Many of these reports are considered at regular intervals, the majority being annually, half-
yearly or quarterly.

1.3 In addition to these reports, the Committee also considers issues on an ad-hoc basis with 
some reports arising from consideration of items at previous meetings.

1.4 Attached at Appendix A to this report is the Work Programme for the Governance and Audit 
Committee.  It lays out all the remaining meeting dates for the 2015/16 municipal year, and 
dates for the 2016/17 municipal year have now been added.  Alongside each of these 
meeting dates are issues considered by the Committee on a regular basis together with the 
author of the report, its purpose and whether it is mandatory, and the frequency with which 
it is considered.

1.5 Regular items have been transferred from the 2015/16 municipal year to the appropriate 
meeting dates for the new municipal year of 2016/17. Contributors are requested to confirm 
that the reports requested, and the meeting dates on which they are to be reported, is 
correct. 

1.6 It has been agreed that this Work Programme be a regular item for consideration on the 
Committee’s agenda, thus creating a formal document laying out the work of the Committee 
in a clear, structured and organised way.

1.7 The attached document contains items considered on a regular basis, and also any ad hoc 
issues as and when they arise, for example, issues raised at a meeting to be covered at a 
future meeting, and any one-off issues. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 11.



2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow Committee members to feed into the Work Programme on a regular basis, to 
ensure that it stays relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Work Programme is a formal document laying out the work of the Committee in a clear, 
structured and organised way, thus providing members with up to date and relevant 
information.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 Constitutional and Legal implications have been considered and in the opinion of the 
author, there are none arising out of this report.   However, the Work Programme should 
assist in providing a clear programme of work for the Governance and Audit Committee in 
line with the requirements laid out in the Council’s Constitution.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 Risk Management implications have been considered and in the opinion of the author, 
there are none.  However, one of the roles of the Governance and Audit Committee is to 
monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the Council, and the Work Programme should assist in keeping track of risk 
issues.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards or communities will be affected by this post.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Work Programme for the Governance and Audit Committee

Page 114



APPENDIX A
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS 2015/16 – 2016/17

Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

3 March 2016 Audit Plan and progress report External Audit External Audit Plan – Mandatory 
Approval

Annual

Grant Claims 2014/15 External Audit External Audit Certification of Grant 
Claims – Mandatory Approval

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report

Internal Audit 
(Lincolnshire Audit)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly

Internal Audit Plan (plan for the year 
ahead)

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

Annual Internal Audit Workplan – 
Mandatory Approval

Annual

Audit Mandatory Inquiries Section 151 Officer To confirm the response of the 
external audit mandatory inquiries. 
External auditors are required to 
obtain an understanding on how those 
charged with governance exercise 
oversight of management’s processes 
in relation to fraud, laws and 
regulations and going concerns.
Good Practice

Annual

Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy Section 151 Officer Part of governance role.
Not mandatory.

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Chris 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

P
age 115



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

26 May 2016 Annual Report (report on the past year)
2015-16

Internal Audit
(Lincolnshire Audit)

Internal audit opinion to support draft 
Annual Governance Statement
Mandatory

Annual

Pre-Audit Financial Statement – Progress 
Report

Section 151 Officer Likely out turn and next steps for 
information.  Format to be agreed.

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Christopher 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

28 July 2016 Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each 
meeting.

Draft Annual Governance Statement 15-
16

Section 151 Officer Approval
Mandatory

Annual

Annual Treasury Management Review Section 151 Officer To comply with Treasury 
Management Strategy
Mandatory

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Chris 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

P
age 116



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

15 September 2016 ISO 260 Report 15/16 (previously know 
as Annual Governance report)

External Audit Mandatory report to those charged 
with Governance

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

Approval of Annual Governance 
Statement, for inclusion with the 
Council’s published financial statements, 
and approval of the audited 15/16 
financial statements

Section 151 Officer Mandatory – approval required Annual

Fraud Report 2015-16 Section 151 Officer Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Chris 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

15 December 2016 SHDC Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 External Audit Mandatory/Constitutional requirement
To approve audit fees

Annually

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report

Internal Audit
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

P
age 117



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

Mid Term Treasury Report 16/17 Section 151 Officer To comply with Treasury 
Management Strategy, reporting 
requirements.

Half Yearly

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 17/18

Section 151 Officer Mandatory requirement.
To review Treasury Management 
Strategy and approve Prudential 
Indicators.

Annual

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Chris 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meeting

23 February 2017 Audit Plan External Audit External Audit Plan – Mandatory 
Approval

Annual

Grant Claims 2015/16 External Audit External Audit Certification of Grant 
Claims – Mandatory Approval

Annual

Internal Audit – Audit Plan Progress 
Report

Internal Audit 
(Eastern Internal 
Audit Services)

To update Committee on progress of 
the plan.
Not mandatory, but part of 
Governance role.

Quarterly/To 
each meeting

Internal Audit Plan (plan for the year 
ahead)

Internal Audit Annual Internal Audit Workplan – 
Mandatory Approval

Annual

Audit Mandatory Inquiries Section 151 Officer To confirm the response of the 
external audit mandatory inquiries. 
External auditors are required to 

Annual

P
age 118



Date of Meeting Agenda item Author Purpose and whether mandatory Frequency

obtain an understanding on how those 
charged with governance exercise 
oversight of management’s processes 
in relation to fraud, laws and 
regulations and going concerns.
Good Practice

Governance and Audit Committee Self 
Assessment

Section 151 Officer For confirmation.  
Good practice.

To each 
meeting

Risk Management Update Report (report 
by exception)

Chris 
Dean/Charlotte 
Paine

Part of Governance role – not 
mandatory

To each 
meetingP

age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3.a) Governance and Audit Committee
	3.b) Special meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee
	4. External Audit Plan 2015/16
	External Audit Plan 2015/2016���
	Headlines
	�Introduction
	Financial statements audit planning
	Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
	Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
	Value for money arrangements work
	Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
	Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
	Value for money arrangements work - Planning
	�Other matters 
	�Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach
	Appendix 2: Audit team
	Appendix 3: Independence and objectivity requirements
	Slide Number 15

	5. Certification of grants and returns 2014/15
	KPMG Annual Report on grants and returns work 2014/15
	Contents
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Headlines
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Summary of reporting outcomes
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Summary of certification work outcomes
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Summary of certification work outcomes (continued.)
	Annual Report on Grants and Returns work 2014/15�Fees
	Slide Number 8

	6. Internal Audit Update Report
	7. Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans 2016/17
	Appendix A Internal Audit Plans 201617

	8. Audit Mandatory Inquiries
	Appendix A

	9. Council Tax Support Anti-Fraud Policy
	Appendix A

	10. Quarterly Risk Report
	Appendix A Risk Report

	11. Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme
	Enc. 1 for Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme


